COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES CALGARY AND EDMONTON CENTRES

(hereinafter called "the Employer")

AND



April 1, 2014- March 31, 2017



Canadian Office & Professional Employees Local #491

Table of Contents

ARTICLE 1 - PREAMBLE	1
ARTICLE 2 - TERM OF AGREEMENT	1
ARTICLE 3 - UNION RECOGNITION	2
ARTICLE 4 - NO DISCRIMINATION AND HARASSMENT	2
ARTICLE 5 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	3
ARTICLE 6 - UNION MEMBERSHIP, SECURITY AND CHECK	3
ARTICLE 7 - DEFINITIONS	5
ARTICLE 8 - CORRESPONDENCE AND COMMUNICATIONS	6
ARTICLE 9 - BARGAINING RELATIONSHIP	7
ARTICLE 10 - SHOP STEWARDS	7
ARTICLE 11 - BULLETIN BOARDS	7
ARTICLE 12 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	
ARTICLE 13 - PROBATIONARY PERIOD	11
ARTICLE 14 - DISCIPLINE, DISMISSAL AND TERMINATION	12
ARTICLE 15 - APPOINTMENTS, PROMOTIONS, TRANSFERS AND VACANCIES	
ARTICLE 16 - SENIORITY	16
ARTICLE 17 - LAYOFF AND RECALL PROCEDURE	16
ARTICLE 18 - TECHNOLOGICAL AND ORGANIZATION CHANGE	18
ARTICLE 19 - HOURS OF WORK	19
ARTICLE 20 - SHIFT AND WEEKEND PREMIUM	21
ARTICLE 21 - OVERTIME AND CALLBACK	21
ARTICLE 22 - NAMED HOLIDAYS	23
ARTICLE 23 - ANNUAL VACATION WITH PAY	24
ARTICLE 24 - SICK LEAVE	28
ARTICLE 25 - HEALTH BENEFITS	32
ARTICLE 26 - PENSION PLAN	33
ARTICLE 27 - WORKERS' COMPENSATION	33
ARTICLE 28 - LEAVES OF ABSENCE	34
ARTICLE 29 - OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY	40
ARTICLE 30 - WAGES	41

ARTICLE 31 - JOB CLASSIFICATION	41
ARTICLE 32 - MOBILE CLINIC ALLOWANCES	42
ARTICLE 33 - DISASTER PLAN EXERCISES	43
ARTICLE 34 - UNIFORMS	44
ARTICLE 35 - RETROACTIVITY	45
ARTICLE 36 - GENERAL	45
ARTICLE 37 – CONTRACTING OUT	45
ARTICLE 38 – ON CALL DUTY	45
ARTICLE 39 - PREMIUMS	46
SALARY APPENDIX	
APPENDIX "A"	52
RE: EMPLOYEE TRANSFERS	53
RE: SCOPE OF BARGAINING UNIT	54
RE: CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES UNIVERSAL BENEFITS PLAN	
RE: JOB EVALUATION	60
RE: WORKING IN THE HEAT OR COLD	61
RE: FTE REVIEW	62
RE: SCHEDULING OF HOURS – CLAUSE 19.05	63
RE: SCHEDULED SHIFT GIVE AWAY	65
RE: CLASSIFICATION TITLE CHANGE	66
RE: PRE-AUTHORIZED PAYMENT FOR PENSION AND BENEFITS	67
RE: COLLECTIVE BARGAINING	.68
RE: VOLUNTARY TERMINATION FOR CLINIC ASSISTANTS AND PHLEBOTOMISTS	.69
RE: WAGE RATE - DONOR CARE ASSOCIATES	.71
RE: WAGE RATE - CLINIC ASSISTANTS AND PHLEBOTOMISTS	.73
RE: ALBERTA LABOUR RELATIONS BOARD CERTIFICATE #154-2014	.75
RE: LUMP SUM PAYMENTS	.76
RE: MOBILE DRIVER CLASSIFICATION	.77
INDEX	78

ARTICLE 1 - PREAMBLE

- 1.01 It is the intent of both Parties to this Agreement:
 - a) to maintain and improve harmonious relations and settled conditions of employment between the Employer and the Union;
 - b) to recognize the mutual value of joint discussions and negotiations in all matters pertaining to working conditions, employment, services, etc.;
 - c) to encourage efficiency in operations;
 - d) to promote the morale, well-being and security of all Employees in the bargaining unit of the Union.

ARTICLE 2 - TERM OF AGREEMENT

2.01 Duration

This Agreement shall be binding and remain in effect from **April 1, 2014 until March 31, 2017** and shall continue in full force and effect from year to year thereafter, unless notice is given as hereinafter provided.

2.02 <u>Changes in Agreement</u>

Any changes deemed necessary to this Agreement may be made by mutual agreement at any time during the life of this Agreement, provided that such changes are properly finalized in writing and executed by the authorized representatives of the parties to this Agreement.

2.03 Notice of Change

Either party desiring to propose changes to this Agreement shall, between the period of sixty (60) and one hundred and twenty (120) days prior to the termination date, give notice in writing to the other party of such intent. Unless agreed otherwise in writing, within thirty (30) working days of such notice the parties will meet to exchange proposals and enter into negotiations for a new Agreement.

2.04 <u>Agreement to Continue in Force</u>

Both parties shall adhere to the terms of this Agreement during their collective bargaining.

ARTICLE 3 - UNION RECOGNITION

- 3.01 The Employer recognizes the Canadian Union of Public Employees as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for all Employees included under Certificate #154-2014 issued by the Alberta Labour Relations Board, which shall include satellite locations which are connected to and/or operated from the Calgary and Edmonton locations.
- 3.02 No Employee shall be required or permitted to make a written or verbal agreement with the Employer or his representative that conflicts with the terms of this Collective Agreement.
- a) The use of volunteers shall not lead to the replacement, transfer, reassignment, or layoff of bargaining unit Employees, to a reduction in their Full-time equivalent, or to the elimination of positions in the bargaining unit.
 - b) Written statements describing all volunteer contributions shall be provided to the Union. Volunteers will receive statements appropriate to the program(s) in which they participate, to ensure that they are aware of the parameters of their contributions.

ARTICLE 4 - NO DISCRIMINATION AND HARASSMENT

- 4.01 The Employer agrees that there shall be no discrimination, interference, restriction, or coercion exercised or practiced with respect to any Employee in the matter of hiring, wage rates, training, up-grading, promotion, transfer, lay-off, recall, discipline, classification, discharge or otherwise by reason of age, race, creed, colour, national origin, political or religious affiliation, sex or marital status, place of residence, sexual preference, mental or physical disability, nor by reason of membership or activity in the Union, or any other reason.
- 4.02 Article 4.01 does not apply with respect to a refusal, limitation, specification or preference based on bona fide occupational requirements.
- 4.03 In accordance with the CBS Respect in the Workplace, Violence & Harassment Prevention Policy, as amended from time to time, the Employer shall:
 - a) Provide a work environment free of harassment;
 - b) Inform all Employees of the policy, including their rights and their responsibilities;

- c) Establish a procedure for receiving and investigating complaints of harassment based on the principles of confidentiality and natural justice;
- d) Advise the Union of all amendments to the policy in writing.

ARTICLE 5 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

- The parties hereto agree that the operations of the Employer entail working methods, hours and processes which are peculiar to it. The parties hereto further recognize that the function of the Employer is that of a **biologics manufacturer that provides a public service**.
- The Union further acknowledges that it is the exclusive function of the Employer to manage and control the Employer's operations, subject, however, to the terms and provisions of this Agreement, and without limiting the generality of the foregoing to:
 - a) maintain order, discipline and efficiency;
 - b) hire, discharge, transfer, promote, classify, demote, discipline, suspend, lay-off, transfer and assign work to Employees, and to introduce new or improved methods of facilities, provided that a claim that an Employee has been discharged or disciplined without just cause may be the subject of a grievance and dealt with as hereinafter provided;
 - c) manage, control, continue, discontinue in whole or in part the Employer's operations, and without restricting the generality of the foregoing, to determine the number of Employees, schedules of production, kinds and locations of machines and processes to be used and the scheduling and conducting of clinics and deliveries and the determination of their locations, in accordance with the function of the Employer as a biologics manufacturer.
- 5.03 The Union further recognizes that all Employees who form part of a clinic team must help each other.

ARTICLE 6 - UNION MEMBERSHIP, SECURITY AND CHECK

6.01 The Employer agrees that all Employees covered by this Agreement shall be deducted Union dues. Such dues shall be set by the Local Union. Dues shall be deducted on a bi-weekly basis and forwarded to the National Secretary-Treasurer of the Canadian Union of Public Employees accompanied by a list of names of the Employees from whose wages the deductions have been made and the pay period covered by the deduction.

- 6.02 The Employer agrees to provide income tax receipts for the total annual deductions to each Employee along with or included in the Employee's T-4 statements.
- All Employees of the Employer covered by this bargaining unit, as a condition of employment, shall become members of the Union according to the constitution and by-laws of the Union. All new Employees shall, as a condition of employment, become members in the Union within sixty (60) working days of commencement of employment.
- The Union shall advise the Employer in writing of any change in the amount of dues to be deducted from Employees, four (4) weeks prior to the effective date of the change.
- a) A representative of the Union shall be given thirty (30) minutes without loss of pay, once a month, to introduce the Union representative to Employees hired during that month. The Employer will advise the Union Representative of the date and time of the introductory meeting.
 - b) The Employer agrees to acquaint new Employees with the fact that a Collective Agreement is in effect and specifically with the dues check-off provision of the Agreement. In addition, each new Employee shall be provided with a copy of the Collective Agreement by the Employer. The Employer will advise all new Employee's of the benefits that they are entitled to under this agreement. Including but not limited to vacation with pay, named holidays, sick leave, health benefits, and pension plan.
 - c) The Union will provide the Employer with an orientation package to be distributed to each new bargaining unit Employee.

6.06 <u>Labour Management Committee</u>

- a) A Labour Management Committee shall be established consisting of up to three (3) representatives of the Union and up to three (3) representatives of the Employer. The parties may agree to invite other participants to attend a meeting.
- b) The purpose of the Committee is to:
 - i) provide effective communications between the Union and the Employer;
 - ii) promote the meaningful transfer of information and ideas;
 - iii) make recommendations on matters of mutual concern.

- c) The Committee shall meet every two (2) months, unless otherwise agreed upon, in accordance with the Terms of Reference.
- d) The Committee shall not hear matters pertaining to grievances or collective bargaining.
- e) Attendance at Labour Management Meetings shall be without loss of pay.

ARTICLE 7 - DEFINITIONS

7.01 <u>Employee</u>

a) Regular Full-time Employees

A Regular Full-time Employee is one who has successfully completed her probationary period and is employed for an indefinite duration to work the prescribed hours as specified in Article 19 of this Collective Agreement.

b) Regular Part-time Employee

A Regular Part-time Employee is one who has successfully completed her probationary period and is employed for an indefinite duration to work less than the full-time hours specified in Article 19.01 a) of this Agreement, unless the Employee is assigned to replace a Full-time Employee on a temporary basis.

The provisions of this Agreement shall apply to Regular Part-time Employees except where specifically provided for in the Article and on a pro-rata basis where applicable.

c) Temporary Employee

A "Temporary Employee" is one who is employed for a defined specified time period to replace a Regular Full-time or a Regular Part-time Employee who is absent, or to undertake, or assist in undertaking a special project of limited duration.

The provisions of this Agreement shall apply to Temporary Employees, with the exception of the following:

14.01	19.05 b)
14.03 b) & c)	21.06
17	21.07
18	24

d) Casual Employee

A Casual Employee is one who is called in to work occasionally, usually on a call-in basis for relief purposes, but who does not work a regular schedule or does so only for a specified time. It is understood that Casual Employees are not called in where other Part-time Employees are available.

The provisions of this Agreement shall apply to Casual Employees, with the exception of the following:

```
13 19.05 b)
14.01 21.06
14.03 b) & c) 21.07
17 24
18
```

7.02 <u>Supervisor</u>

For the purpose of this Collective Agreement, "Supervisor" shall mean a member of the Supervisory/Managerial team and who is outside of the scope of this Collective Agreement.

ARTICLE 8 - CORRESPONDENCE AND COMMUNICATIONS

- 8.01 All correspondence between the parties, arising out of this Agreement or incidental thereto, shall pass to and from the Human Resources Manager or designate, Canadian Blood Services, the Recording Secretary and the President of the Local Union. In addition to the Recording Secretary, the National Representative of the Canadian Union of Public Employees shall have the right to initiate correspondence on any matter concerning the Union and shall be recognized by the Employer as having this right.
- No Employee or group of Employees shall undertake to represent the Union at meetings with the Employer without the proper authorization of the Local Union. In representing an Employee or group of Employees, an elected or appointed spokesperson of the Union shall be the spokesperson. In order that this may be carried out, the Union will supply the Employer with the names of its officers and **Shop Stewards**. Likewise, the Employer shall supply the Union with a list of its supervisory personnel with whom the Union may be required to transact business.

The Union shall have the right at any time to have the assistance of the representatives of the Canadian Union of Public Employees when dealing or negotiating with the Employer. Such representative(s) shall have access to the Employer's premises in order to investigate and to assist in the settlement of Agreements or grievances. Prior permission to have said access shall be requested from the Manager Human Resources or designate in writing by the representative of the Canadian Union of Public Employees.

ARTICLE 9 - BARGAINING RELATIONSHIP

- 9.01 a) A Union Bargaining Committee shall be appointed and shall consist of not more than three members of the Union. The Union will advise the Employer of the Union nominees to the Committee. The Employer shall not deduct any pay for members of the bargaining committee for time spent in collective bargaining.
 - b) Should someone other than a Full-time Employee be selected to participate in the collective bargaining process, such an Employee shall be compensated for actual time bargaining up to a maximum of 7.5 hours per day.

ARTICLE 10 - SHOP STEWARDS

- 10.01 The Shop Steward system is accepted in principle by the Employer, and Shop Stewards will be recognized as having authority to act on behalf of other Employees. The names of Shop Stewards will be supplied in writing to the Employer before they are recognized as Shop Stewards.
- 10.02 No **Shop Steward** shall leave work without obtaining the permission of her supervisor. Such permission shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- 10.03 Shop Stewards shall suffer no loss in pay for time spent on the Employer's premises in performing their duties as Shop Stewards.

ARTICLE 11 - BULLETIN BOARDS

11.01 The Union shall be provided with space in the Employer's bulletin board on which to post notices regarding Union meetings and announcements with regard to collective bargaining or other Union matters, provided that all notices posted thereat shall bear the signature of an officer of the Local Union or CUPE Representative.

The location of the bulletin boards shall be all CBS facility lunchrooms.

ARTICLE 12 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

- 12.01 A grievance shall be defined as any difference or dispute arising out of interpretation, application, operation or contravention or alleged contravention of this Collective Agreement.
- 12.02 Except for Step One of the grievance procedure, grievances shall be in writing in accordance with the following procedure.
- 12.03 An Employee or group of Employees who believes themselves to be aggrieved shall initiate the grievance within ten (10) working days of the date she/they become aware of, or reasonably should have become aware of the occurrence.
- 12.04 The grievor may be represented by the Local Union or the CUPE National Representative at any Step of the grievance procedure.
- 12.05 Time limits at any Step in the grievance procedure are mandatory unless otherwise mutually agreed, in writing.
- 12.06 a) A Group Grievance is a grievance affecting more than one (1) Employee.
 - b) A Policy Grievance is any difference arising between the Employer and the Union concerning the interpretation, application, administration, or alleged violation of this Agreement.
 - c) A Group Grievance or Policy Grievance may be advanced to Step Two of the Grievance Procedure by either party. Grievors involved in a Group Grievance may choose to delegate a representative group of grievors to attend a Step 2 meeting.
- 12.07 The time limits specified in the grievance procedure including all the stages and steps referred to shall not include Saturdays, Sundays or Named Holidays. Longer periods of time for consideration of agreements may be given at any step in the procedure if mutually agreeable in writing to both parties, with the exception of Arbitration where both parties agree to abide by the **Alberta** Labour **Relations** Code.

12.08 Grievances arising under this Agreement shall be adjusted and settled as follows:

Step One

An Employee or group of Employees shall first discuss the grievance with the immediate Supervisor in the work area. Either party may exercise the right to have the case presented at a meeting to be called within **ten (10)** days of verbal submission of the **issue**. The Supervisor will, within **ten (10)** days following the meeting to discuss the case, submit the decision of the Employer verbally to the grievor(s).

Step Two

Failing a settlement in step one, the grievor may submit the **issue as a written** grievance to the Manager of the department, or designated representative, within a period of **ten (10)** days following receipt of the verbal decision of the Supervisor in Step One. **The written grievance shall state the Article(s) claimed to have been violated, the nature of the grievance, and the redress sought.** The Manager or designate representative shall have ten (10) days following the meeting in which to render a decision in writing to the grievor and the Union.

Step Three

Failing a settlement in Step Two, the grievor may submit the grievance to the Human Resources Manager, or designated representative within a period of seven (7) days, following receipt of the decision of the Manager in Step 2. The parties shall meet within ten (10) days following receipt of the submission to attempt to resolve the grievance. The Human Resources Manager or designate representative shall have ten (10) days following the meeting in which to render a decision in writing to the grievor and the Union.

Mediation

- a) If the grievance is not resolved under Step 3 above, the Union and the Employer may mutually agree to mediation in an effort to resolve the grievance prior to Arbitration. The role of the Mediator is to assist the Union and Employer in reaching a mutually acceptable resolution to the grievance as expeditiously as possible.
- b) If the Union and the Employer mutually agree to mediation, such agreement will be confirmed in writing.

- c) If the Union and the Employer do not mutually agree to mediation, the grievance may be submitted to Arbitration.
- d) The Union and the Employer will equally share the fees and expenses of the Mediator.
- e) The Union and the Employer will make reasonable efforts to reduce the costs of mediation and to involve the Employee(s) and representatives of the Employer and Union most directly affected by the grievance. The grievor(s) and a Union representative will be permitted to attend the mediation sessions without loss of regular pay. Legal counsel will not attend or directly participate in the mediation process.
- f) Upon request of the parties, the Mediator may provide recommendations to resolve the grievance. Unless accepted by both parties, the Mediator's recommendations will be non-binding, will set no precedent, and will not thereafter be referred to by the parties in respect of any other matter in any other proceedings. The parties will provide written notice to each other of their acceptance or rejection of the Mediator's recommendations within five (5) working days of receipt of the recommendations.
- g) Either party may withdraw from mediation at any time during the process by advising the Mediator and the other party. Time limits for advancing the grievance to arbitration will commence upon withdrawal from mediation.
- h) Agreements at mediation that resolve the grievance will be reduced to writing and signed by the Union and the Employer.

Arbitration

Failing satisfactory settlement in Step 3 or Mediation, the Union or the Employer may, within twenty (20) working days of the receipt of the decision rendered in Step 3, notify the other party in writing of its desire to submit the grievance to Arbitration and name three persons it is willing to accept as the single arbitrator in such notice.

Within ten (10) days of receipt of notice of arbitration, the party receiving such notice shall notify the other party of its acceptance of one of the suggested arbitrators, or provide the names of three persons that it is willing to accept as the single arbitrator.

Should the parties be unable to agree on an Arbitrator, the party submitting the grievance to Arbitration shall request the Director of Mediation Services to appoint an Arbitrator in accordance with the *Alberta Labour Relations Code*.

- 12.09 The Arbitrator, where an Employee has been dismissed or suspended for other than proper or just cause may:
 - a) direct the Employer to reinstate the Employee and pay to the Employee a sum equal to his wage loss by reason of suspension or dismissal or such lesser sum as, in the opinion of the Board of Arbitration, is fair and reasonable, or
 - b) make such other order as it considers fair and reasonable having regard to the terms of the Collective Agreement.
- 12.10 Any Employee or Union Officer desiring to appeal a dismissal or suspension shall do so under the Grievance Procedure and in such cases Step 1 of the Grievance Procedure may be omitted.
- 12.11 A Temporary or Casual Employee shall not have the right to grieve the termination of her employment on the expiry of the term for which the Employee was hired.

ARTICLE 13 - PROBATIONARY PERIOD

a) Regular Full-time, Part-time and Temporary Employees

New Employees shall serve a probationary period of **six hundred (600)** hours worked, extendible by up to an additional **three hundred (300)** hours worked. The Union shall be notified of any extension beyond the initial **six hundred (600)** hours worked period and the Employee will be advised in writing of any performance related concerns. Further, each full day of absence from work for any reason will extend the probationary period by one day.

If a new Employee is unsatisfactory in the opinion of the Employer, such Employee may be terminated at any time during the probationary period without notice and without recourse to the grievance procedure, provided such termination is not for reasons which are discriminatory, arbitrary or in bad faith.

b) Casual Employees

The provisions of this Article do not apply to Casual Employees.

13.02 Feedback on Progress

A new Employee will be kept regularly advised of his/her progress during the probationary period.

ARTICLE 14 - DISCIPLINE, DISMISSAL AND TERMINATION

- a) Except in cases of dismissal for just cause, Employees or the Employer shall give twenty (20) working days' notice of termination of employment. If twenty (20) working days' notice is not given by an Employee, Article 23.10 shall apply.
 - b) prior to administering discipline the Employee will be advised of the time and place of a disciplinary meeting and shall be advised of their right to have a Union representative in attendance.
- An Employee who is dismissed shall receive his termination entitlement within five (5) working days. An Employee who voluntarily leaves the employ of the Employer shall receive the wages and vacation pay to which he/she is entitled within ten (10) days following the date on which he/she terminates his/her employment.
- 14.03 An Employee shall be considered terminated when:
 - a) absent from work for three (3) days or more without good and proper reason and/or without notifying the Employer;
 - b) does not return from lay-off as required or has been on a lay-off for a period of time exceeding eighteen (18) months;
 - c) fails to return to work within five (5) working days after being notified of recall from layoff, in accordance with Article 17.01 q).
 - d) has been granted leave of absence of any kind and overstays her leave without the permission of the Employer, in accordance with Article 28.01 b).
- 14.04 a) When the Employer processes a written disciplinary warning or when any other disciplinary action is recorded against an Employee, a copy will be forwarded to the Local Union Steward.
 - b) Employees will sign at the time of issuance that they have, in effect, read the document(s).
 - c) An Employee may elect to have a Shop Steward present during a disciplinary meeting.
- 14.05 Reprimands not involving suspension shall be removed from an Employee's file providing there has not been any additional offence(s) within a twelve (12) month period.

- 14.06 Reprimands involving suspension shall be removed from an Employee's file providing there has not been any additional offence(s) within an eighteen (18) month period.
- 14.07 An Employee may submit a written request to view his personnel file once every year and when necessitated by an Employee who has been reprimanded or has filed a grievance, to the Human Resources Manager or designate with at least forty-eight (48) hours' notice.

ARTICLE 15 - APPOINTMENTS, PROMOTIONS, TRANSFERS AND VACANCIES

- a) The Employer agrees to post vacancies in reasonably accessible locations for a period of not less than six (6) working days prior to an appointment being made. The job posting shall be based on the current job description and will indicate:
 - i) Position summary;
 - ii) Qualifications;
 - iii) Location;
 - iv) Pay scale;
 - v) Where to submit application;
 - vi) Deadline for application.
 - b) An electronic communication of the job posting and the subsequent successful applicant will be forwarded to the President, or designate, of the Local Union.
 - c) The Employer shall post the name of the successful applicant to the position within seven (7) calendar days of the appointment.
 - d) Notwithstanding the above, the Employer may implement electronic postings, bulletin boards and/or application processes.
- Temporary vacancies that are expected to be of duration of greater than **six** (6) weeks shall be posted in accordance with Article 15.01 above.
- a) For the purpose of this Agreement, promotion shall mean an advancement to a classification with a higher pay grade.
 - b) Transfer shall mean a change to a classification with an equal or lower pay grade as a result of an application made by the Employee.

Education, training, **qualifications** and experience shall be considered in transfers and promotions with primary reference to the job description. Where these factors are judged to be relatively equal seniority shall be the determining factor. Qualifications shall not be established in a discriminatory manner.

In filling posted positions, an Employee applicant with seniority from within the bargaining unit will be given first consideration before an external applicant, provided they meet the necessary qualifications.

15.05 Order of Consideration

In considering internal applicants, the Employer will use the following order:

- a) Regular Employees;
- b) Temporary and Casual Employees.

15.06 Trial Period

- a) A successful applicant for promotion or transfer, to a different classification, shall be placed on a trial period of five hundred and eighty-two and one-quarter (582 ¼) regular hours worked extendable up to two hundred and ninety-one and one-half (291 ½) regular hours worked by mutual consent between the Union and the Employer, in which to demonstrate satisfactory performance. During this trial period, the Employee may choose to return or the Employer may direct the Employee to return to her former position and basic rate of pay.
- b) Where an Employee is promoted or transferred to a Phlebotomist classification, the trial period shall commence following the Employee's successful completion of the Employer's Phlebotomy training program.
- a) When an Employee is promoted, the salary of such an Employee shall be advanced to that step in the salary scale of the new position that represents an increase in pay of at least one increment higher than the next step on her former scale. An Employee's anniversary date for the purpose of an annual increment will be changed to the date of the promotion.
 - b) When an Employee is transferred to a different classification in the same wage group, her salary shall remain the same with the same anniversary date. When an Employee is transferred to a classification in a lower wage group, then her salary shall be changed to the same step on the new classifications salary scale and the anniversary date will remain the same.

15.08 a) A Regular Employee who is assigned to an alternate position on a temporary basis, within or outside of the bargaining unit, shall retain their regular status and return to their regular position at the conclusion of the temporary assignment.

Where such assignment is **within or** outside of the bargaining unit, the Employee will continue to accrue service for seniority, sick, vacation and salary increments.

- b) In the event a Regular Employee is temporarily assigned by the Employer to perform the duties of a higher paid classification within the bargaining unit, she shall be paid a premium of one dollar and twenty five cents (\$1.25) per hour when such assignment is for a full shift.
- c) When a bargaining unit Employee is temporarily assigned to a Supervisory position for a full shift, such Employee shall be paid a premium of one dollar and twenty five cents per hour.
- d) The premium noted in 15.08 b) and c) above shall not be considered part of the Employee's basic rate of pay.
- a) When an other than Full-time Employee is appointed to a Regular Full-time position all benefits of this Agreement that were not previously applicable will apply and commence to accrue from the date of appointment to the Full-time position subject to the regulations and eligibility requirements applicable to Regular Full-time Employees. The Employee's future anniversary date for the purpose of annual increments shall be the date of appointment to the Regular Full-time position.
 - b) Further to a) above, the Employee will retain her accumulated service credits for the purpose of calculating vacation entitlement in the Full-time position.
 - c) Filling of Temporary (Full-time) and Casual Positions

The Employer will endeavor to fill Temporary (Full-time) and Casual positions with available Regular Part-time Employees within classifications. The employment status of such Employees will not be changed to Temporary or Casual.

ARTICLE 16 - SENIORITY

Seniority is defined as a Regular Employee's length of continuous service with the Employer within the bargaining unit from the last date of hire.

Seniority shall only be applicable in cases of lay-off, recall procedures, selection of vacation dates and job postings.

Up to date seniority lists (Full-time and Part-time) shall be posted by the Employer, in places accessible to all Employees by April 1st of each year, with a copy to the local president or designate. An Employee who does not believe her/his posted seniority is accurate shall raise this issue with Human Resources within thirty (30) days of a new seniority list being posted.

Requests for correction shall be made in writing and shall be limited to alleged errors or changes that are unique to the newly posted seniority list.

In the event of a dispute between Employees, over their respective seniority, the Employer's employment records shall be the official record.

16.03 Temporary and Casual Employees shall accumulate seniority, based on hours worked, for the purposes of job postings only.

ARTICLE 17 - LAYOFF AND RECALL PROCEDURE

17.01 Definition

The definition of a layoff for a Regular Full-time Employee is a reduction in hours, or the elimination of a position, and the definition for a layoff for a Regular Part-time Employee is an elimination of a position.

At least twenty (20) working days prior to a layoff, the Employer will meet with the Union to inform the Union of the Employer's intentions:

a) In the event of a lay-off, Employees shall be retained in the order of their classification seniority provided they have the required abilities and qualifications to fill the position available.

Employees shall be recalled in order of classification seniority when work becomes available provided they have the required abilities and qualifications to fill the position available.

b) No new Employee shall be hired until those laid off who can perform the job available have been given the first opportunity of recall.

- c) The Employer shall notify Employees to be laid off in accordance with this Article at least twenty (20) working days before the lay-off is to be effective. If the Employee who has received a lay-off notice is not provided with an opportunity to work during the notice period, such Employee shall be paid an amount equal to the wages the Employee would have earned, had they worked their regular hours of work in the twenty (20) working day period. If such Regular Employee is assigned duties other than those normally connected with the classification in question during the notice period, the Employee shall not be paid less than the amount of wages they would have been entitled to receive had such Employee not been provided with an opportunity to work during the notice period.
- d) Notice of lay-off shall be in writing and shall be served either in person, by double registered letter, or by courier signature directed to the Employee's last known address. Lay-off notices served by registered mail shall be considered served effective the date of registration with the postal services, or if served in person, shall be considered served effective the date of receipt by the Employee. Employees on authorized absence shall be served their notice upon return to work.
- e) The Union shall be notified in writing of lay-offs as they occur (i.e. cc. on lay-off letters).
- f) Seniority shall be considered broken, all rights forfeited, and there shall be no obligation on the part of the Employer to rehire an Employee upon the expiry of eighteen (18) calendar months following a lay-off during which time the Employee has not been recalled to work.
- g) The Employee on lay-off shall be responsible to keep the Centre advised of her current address or changes in her address. Should an Employee fail to return to work within five (5) working days after being notified in writing by registered mail at her last known address with the Employer, she shall be considered to have terminated her employment.
- h) Employees on lay-off are not entitled to any benefits under this Agreement and shall not earn seniority, sick leave service credits, annual vacation credits and Named Holiday pay during the entire period of lay-off. The Employee's salary increment shall also be adjusted by the same amount of time as the period of lay-off.
- i) An Employee in a trial period, for a different position, at the time of layoff or from a recall will retain the balance of their recall rights should they not be successful in maintaining the position.

17.02 Severance

- a) A regular employee who is laid off may, instead of being placed on the recall list, elect to receive a severance payment of two (2) weeks regular earnings per year of service, to a maximum of forty (40) weeks. Regular earnings for regular part time employees shall be based on the Employee's average regular weekly earnings in the twenty-six (26) weeks immediately preceding the lay-off.
- b) Severance pay will be in the form of a lump-sum payment, less any and all applicable statutory deductions.
- c) The employment of an employee who elects severance shall be terminated.

ARTICLE 18 - TECHNOLOGICAL AND ORGANIZATION CHANGE

18.01 <u>Technological and Organization Change</u>

- a) In the event that Regular Employees will be displaced due to change in methods of operation, the Employer will notify the Union at least 2 months in advance of such change.
- b) Provided a Regular Employee possesses the basic ability to perform in an alternate position, the Employer will endeavour to assign such affected Employee to another position within the bargaining unit and agrees to provide any necessary training.
- c) Regular Employees who are assigned by the Employer to a lower paid position subject to b) above, shall continue to receive their current rate of pay until such time as the rate of pay for the lower paid position is equal to or greater than their current rate of pay, and thereafter shall be paid in accordance with the lower paid classification.
- d) Where alternative employment is not available, the Employer will give the Regular Employee a minimum of four (4) weeks notice or pay in lieu of notice of displacement and all conditions of the lay off and recall article shall apply.
- 18.02 The provisions of this Article shall not apply to Temporary or Casual Employees.

ARTICLE 19 - HOURS OF WORK

- a) The normal hours of work for Regular Full-time Employees shall be seventy-five (75) hours bi-weekly, and the normal daily hours shall be seven and one half (7 ½) hours or as per posted schedules. The normal daily hours shall be exclusive of an unpaid meal break to be scheduled by the Employer.
 - b) A Regular Full-time Employee shall be paid her bi-weekly rate, seventy-five hours, when if through no means attributable to her she has been scheduled by the Employer to work less than the normal bi-weekly hours specified in Article 19.01 a)
- 19.02 Regular Full-time Employees shall be scheduled four days off within fourteen days, two (2) of which will be consecutive. The Employer shall endeavour to schedule such Employees two (2) consecutive days off each week and endeavour to schedule every second (2nd) weekend off.

19.03 Other than Full Time Employees

- a) The normal hours of work for Regular Part-time Employees shall be less than seventy-five (75) hours bi-weekly.
- b) Subject to operational requirements, Regular Part-time Employees will have first access to additional available hours (Temporary/Term and Casual), subject to availability and required qualifications.
- c) Regular Part-time and Temporary/Term Employees shall not work in excess of six (6) consecutive calendar days without a day off.
- d) Where the cancellation of a **shift** occurs, outside the control of the Employer, and where forty-eighty (48) hours' notice is not provided and where Employees cannot be otherwise deployed, the Employer will pay a minimum of three (3) hours **to a maximum of seven and a half hours** (7 ½) at the Employee's regular straight time rate of pay.
- e) A scheduled shift shall be no less than three (3) hours.
- f) While it is not the Employer's intention to use split shifts as a regular part of scheduling, the Employer may do so to accommodate certain situations, which may arise from time to time.
- 19.04 There shall be a minimum of ten (10) hours' rest between scheduled work days.

- 19.05 Work schedules shall be posted four (4) weeks in advance for all Employees, however:
 - a) in the event of an Employee returning from medical leave, or in the situation of cancellation of surgery, and upon forty-eight (48) hours' notice to the Employer, the Employer will endeavour, whenever possible, to integrate the returning Employee into other available hours within the department's posted schedule;
 - b) the Employer will endeavour to assign all Regular Employee's shifts on an equitable rotation basis based on skill sets, unless otherwise mutually agreed by the Employee and the Employer;
 - c) when operational requirements permit, Employees may exchange shifts among themselves provided that prior approval of such shift exchange is sought from and given by the Employer and that there is no increases in cost to the Employer.
- 19.06 Hours of work will be deemed to include time off in lieu of overtime pay.
- 19.07 In the event that the Employer requires a change in an Employee's posted work schedule and provides less than fourteen (14) calendar days' notice, she shall be paid two times (2X) her basic rate of pay for the hours worked that are different from those hours already scheduled. For clarity, additional shifts offered to other than full-time employees do not qualify for this premium pay.

19.08 Rest Periods

- a) As scheduled by the Employer,
 - i) one (1) rest period of fifteen (15) minutes with pay during each shift of three and three-quarters (3 3/4) hours or longer;
 - ii) two (2) rest periods of fifteen (15) minutes with pay during each shift of seven and one-half (7 $\frac{1}{2}$) hours.
- b) The Employer shall endeavor to ensure that rest periods will not be scheduled in conjunction with meal periods or starting/quitting times.
- c) Where an Employee is unable to take their scheduled rest period, such rest period shall be provided later in the shift. Where this is not possible, the time will be added to their shift and be paid at either the regular rate of pay or the overtime rate, whichever is applicable.

- 19.09 An unpaid meal period of a minimum of thirty (30) minutes or up to sixty (60) minutes shall be provided by the Employer during each shift **in excess of five (5) hours** or more as per posted schedules. If an Employee is recalled to duty during her meal period, additional time shall be provided later in the shift. If this is not possible, the Employee shall be compensated with time off at a later date.
- 19.**10** In the case of mobile clinics, hours of work for Employees shall include travel time from the Centre, or the point of origin of the mobile assignment, to the point of designation and return back to the Centre/point of origin.

ARTICLE 20 - SHIFT AND WEEKEND PREMIUM

20.01 Shift Premium

An evening premium of two dollars and seventy-five cents (\$2.75) per hour, shall be paid to Employees for all hours worked, including overtime hours, when the majority of such hours fall within the period of 1600 and 0800 hours of the next day. This premium will not be considered in determining the Employee's overtime rate, vacation pay, holidays, sick leave or any other benefits. This premium will not be considered part of the basic rate of pay.

20.02 Weekend Premium

A week-end premium of three dollars and twenty-five cents (\$3.25) per hour shall be paid to an Employee working between 0001 Saturday and 2400 Sunday. This premium will not be considered in determining the Employee's overtime rate, vacation pay, holidays, sick leave or any other benefits. This premium will not be considered part of the basic rate of pay.

ARTICLE 21 - OVERTIME AND CALLBACK

21.01 Regular Full Time Employees

a) Overtime is all time authorized by the Employer and worked by an Employee in excess of seventy-five (75) hours bi-weekly.

Other than Full Time Employees

b) Other than Full Time Employees shall receive pay for all hours worked in excess of seven and one-half (7 ½) hours per day or seventy five (75) hours bi-weekly.

- a) Overtime worked by an Employee immediately following or immediately preceding her scheduled shift shall be paid at double time (2X) her basic hourly rate.
 - b) Where unscheduled overtime is offered, the Employer shall endeavour to distribute such hours equitably amongst Employees who regularly perform the required work and who have indicated their availability in the availability book.
 - c) Where overtime is being offered to extend an existing shift, such overtime shall first be offered to Employees who are already working or scheduled to work that shift in order of seniority.
- Employees required by the Employer to work on their scheduled days off shall be entitled to pay at the overtime rate of two times (2X) their basic rate of pay for all hours so worked, or to compensating time off as provided in Article 21.06.

21.04 Call back

An Employee who is called back to work outside his regular scheduled hours of work shall be paid for all hours worked or for two (2) hours, whichever is the longer at the overtime rate. When the Employee is able to resolve the matter without returning to the workplace, she shall be paid for thirty (30) minutes or for the actual time spent on the call, whichever is greater. Subsequent calls within the half hour period shall not result in an additional minimum thirty (30) minute payment.

- Where the required rest time between scheduled work days, in accordance with Article 19.04, is not provided, the Employee shall receive payment of two times (2X) the Employee's regular hourly rate for all hours worked during the rest period.
- 21.06 Time off in lieu of overtime shall be the equivalent of the actual time worked adjusted by the overtime rate. Regular Employees can accumulate such time off, to a maximum of thirty-seven and one half (37 ½) hours. Any such accumulation that would exceed this maximum will be paid out to the Employee at the appropriate overtime rate.
 - a) A Regular Employee may request time off in lieu of overtime to be taken at a mutually agreeable time; or
 - b) A Regular Employee may request time off in lieu of overtime worked to be taken in conjunction with the Employee's annual vacation; or

- c) Time in lieu accumulated between January 1st and December 31st of the previous calendar year which has not been used or scheduled for use before March 1st of the following year will be paid out by the Employer.
- 21.07 A Regular Employee called back from their scheduled vacation shall be paid for all hours worked during this period at double time (2X) their basic hourly rate of pay, and such vacation shall be rescheduled to a mutually agreed time. Failing mutual agreement, the vacation pay shall be paid out at the completion of the vacation year.

ARTICLE 22 - NAMED HOLIDAYS

22.01 a) Regular Full-time Employees shall be entitled to a paid day off on or for (in lieu of) the following Named Holidays:

New Year's Day Labour Day

Family Day Thanksgiving Day Good Friday Remembrance Day

Christmas Day Victoria Day Boxing Day Canada Day

August Civic Day

one (1) day added to either Christmas or New Year's Day holidays;

- b) and any other day proclaimed as a holiday by the Federal or Provincial Government.
- c) In addition to the above mentioned Named Holidays, Regular Full-time Employees shall be granted an additional holiday, as a **Float** Holiday which shall be requested in writing by the Employee. The Float Holiday shall be scheduled at a time mutually agreed by the Employer and the Employee. If the holiday is not taken by the last day in March in the following year, it shall be paid out. A Regular Full-time Employee hired prior to September 1st, in any fiscal year will qualify for the float holiday.
- 22.02 To qualify for a Named Holiday with pay the Employee must:
 - a) work their scheduled work day immediately prior and immediately following the holiday except where the Employee is absent due to illness or other reasons acceptable to the Employer, and
 - b) work on the holiday when scheduled or required to do so.

- 22.03 Should any of the above Named Holidays listed in Article 22.01 a) above fall on a Regular Full-time Employee's scheduled weekly day off, (without pay), an alternate day off with pay shall be granted, as mutually agreed, within thirty (30) days either prior to or after the scheduled Named Holiday. If such day off with pay cannot be arranged, the Employee shall receive one (1) day's regular pay in lieu thereof.
- When a scheduled Named Holiday(s) falls during a Regular Full-time Employee's annual vacation, such holiday(s) may, by mutual agreement, be added to the vacation period, or if this is not possible, the Employee shall be granted another work day(s) off with pay in lieu thereof. Such day(s) off with pay in lieu shall be granted within thirty (30) days of return to work from vacation.
- 22.05 A Regular Full-time Employee obliged in the course of duty to work on a scheduled Named Holiday shall be paid for all hours worked on such day at two times (2X) her regular rate plus:
 - a) one regular day's pay; or
 - b) an alternate date off with pay shall be granted, as mutually agreed, within 30 days either prior to or after the scheduled Named Holiday. If such day off with pay cannot be arranged, the Employee shall receive one (1) day's regular pay in lieu thereof.
- 22.06 a) On each pay cheque, Regular Part Time, Temporary and Casual Employees shall be paid five percent (5%) of their regular gross earnings in lieu of Named Holidays.
 - b) Regular Part time, Temporary and Casual Employees required to work on a scheduled Named Holiday shall be paid in addition to a) above at two times (2X) their regular rate of pay for all hours worked on such holidays.

ARTICLE 23 - ANNUAL VACATION WITH PAY

- 23.01 The vacation year is April 1 of one (1) year to March 31 of the following year.
- Vacation entitlement is earned during each vacation year of continuous service and taken during the same vacation year, subject to 23.05, 23.06 and 23.07.
- a) For the first year of employment a Regular Full-time Employee shall accrue annual leave of one and one-quarter (1 1/4) working days for each complete month of service from April 1st of one year to March 31st of the following year. This provides for a maximum of fifteen (15) working days.

- b) Following completion of one (1) year of continuous service a Regular Fulltime Employee shall accrue one and two thirds (1 2/3) working days for each complete month of service. This provides for a maximum of twenty (20) working days.
- c) Following completion of nine (9) years of continuous service a Regular Full-time Employee shall accrue two and one twelfths (2 1/12) working days for each complete month of service. This provides for a maximum of twenty-five (25) working days.
- d) Following completion of nineteen (19) years of continuous service a Regular Full-time Employee shall accrue two and one-half (2 ½) working days for each complete month of service. This provides for a maximum of thirty (30) working days.
- e) Vacation pay will be based on the current normal rate of pay and shall be based on paid hours during the vacation year, except where otherwise indicated.
- 23.04 For the purpose of calculating the inclusive date of annual leave periods, one week of annual leave will be reported as five (5) days.

23.05 Time of Vacation

Vacation time must be taken during the vacation year in which it is earned subject to the following:

- a) i) The vacation schedule planner shall be for the period of April 1st to March 31st of the following year (Fiscal Year).
 - ii) the Employer shall post a vacation schedule planner by January 1st of each year.
 - iii) Employees requesting to take vacation between April 1st and May 31st will submit such requests by January 15th. Approval of such vacation will be given by January 31st. Requests for vacation which are submitted after January 15th for the period of April 1st and May 31st shall be dealt with on a first-come, first serve basis.

- iv) Employees requesting to take vacation between June 1st and March 31st of the following year, shall submit the requests by February 1st. The Employer shall indicate approval or disapproval of that vacation request by February 28th of that year. Requests for vacation which are submitted after February 1st for the period of June 1st and March 31st shall be dealt with on a first-come, first serve basis;
- where an Employee submits a request to defer a portion of their vacation by February 1st of that year, subject to Article 23.07 and 23.08 of this Agreement, the Employer shall indicate approval or disapproval of that deferral by February 28th of the current vacation year;
- b) Seniority preference, where operationally possible to do so, shall be considered for one vacation period, only if vacation entitlement is broken into more than one (1) period during the vacation year. After every member has exhausted their seniority preference, all other vacation dates shall be allocated based on seniority.
- c) except for vacation deferral as identified in Article 23.05 (a), no Employee may continue to work and draw vacation pay. Except for an Employee on extended leave of absence for health-related reasons, if an Employee has not taken or scheduled vacation by **September 1**st of any year, the Employer may schedule such vacation so no payout will occur.
- 23.06 Provision to request approval to defer annual leave is made to meet the exigencies of the service only. The only exceptions to these regulations are as follows:
 - a) Employees appointed subsequent to December 31st, in any year vacation leave may not be granted during probationary period. In such cases, it is permissible to request deferment of annual leave;
 - b) Employees who have completed four (4) or more years of continuous service Employees qualifying may request deferment at intervals of not less than four (4) years.
- 23.07 Request to defer annual leave under 23.06 a) and b) above, are to be submitted for review not later than February 1st in any year and, if approved, such leave is to be completed prior to July 31st of the following year and may not be combined with the annual leave for that year.

- Upon termination, leave earned but not taken, will be reimbursed at the Employee's current rate of pay in the final pay cheque.
- Upon termination, annual leave taken but not earned will be recovered at the Employee's current rate of pay from the final pay cheque.
- Pro rata vacation pay on termination of employment will be paid with the service rendered if the proper notice is given. If proper notice of termination is not given, the Employee will be paid in accordance with the Alberta Employment Standards Act.
- Where in respect of any period of annual leave, an Employee may be granted sick leave for an illness which would confine the Employee for a period of more than three (3) working days, the Employee must notify the department head on the fourth (4th) day of illness, except in extenuating circumstances, and upon return submit a medical certificate substantiating proof of such illness. The period of annual leave so displaced shall either be added to the vacation period requested by the Employee and approved by the Employer or reinstated for use at a later date. Such displacement will be taken out of the accumulated sick leave bank of the Employees.

23.12 Other Than Full Time Employees

- a) i) On each pay cheque, Temporary/Term and Casual Employees shall be paid a percentage of their total gross regular earnings, in lieu of annual vacation.
 - ii) The percentage in lieu of paid vacation shall be on gross earnings, as follows:

up to 1747.5 hours: 6% after 1747.5 hours: 8% after 15,727.5 hours: 10% after 33,202.5 hours: 12%

- b) The Employer shall bank on behalf of the Regular Part-time Employees the applicable percentage identified in the formula under Article 23.12 a) ii) in lieu of annual vacation. Once annually on the pay **date closest to April 1**st of each year the bank shall be paid out.
- c) Each fiscal year, after twelve (12) months of continuous services, Regular Part-time Employees must apply for a minimum of three (3) weeks annual vacation without pay. Applicable Employees may apply for vacation without pay up to the following maximums:
 - Up to 1747.5 hours, an Employee must request three (3) weeks unpaid vacation.

- After 1747.5 hours, an Employee may request up to (4) weeks unpaid vacation.
- After 15,727.5 hours, an Employee may request up to (5) weeks unpaid vacation.
- After 33,202.5 hours, an Employee may request up to six (6) weeks unpaid vacation.

ARTICLE 24 - SICK LEAVE

The sick leave plan herewith presented provides for continuation of payment of salary as set forth in table of credit outlined in this plan to Regular Employees who are absent due to bona fide illness. Its purpose is to ensure insofar as is reasonable and just that the Employees shall not be deprived of income while absent due to illness. Credits are established on the basis of the length of service and are cumulative. No contributions are required from the Employee. Each Employee should be informed of the privileges under this policy and encouraged to guard against unnecessary use of sick leave grants in order that the maximum credit may be available in time of real need.

24.02 Regular Full Time Employees

All Regular Full Time Employees and Regular Full Time probationary Employees after a continuous period of employment of three (3) months, are eligible for benefits provided under this plan during the period a person has Regular Employee status under the regulations of the Employer.

24.03 The amount of credit a Regular Full-time Employee has at a particular date is based on the Employee's length of continuous service in completed years to that date, less any benefits that the Employee has received in the previous five (5) year period.

24.04 Based on continuous service, sick leave credits will accrue to each Regular Full-time Employee as listed below:

LENGTH OF SERVICE	100% SALARY	75% SALARY	66-2/3 % SALARY
Less than 1 year	5 days	5 days	
On the first calendar day after 3 months continuous service has been completed			65 days
1 year	10 days	20 days	45 days
2 years	15 days	35 days	25 days
3 years	20 days	50 days	5 days
4 years	25 days	65 days	
5 years	30 days	80 days	
6 years	35 days	95 days	
7 years	40 days	110 days	
8 years	45 days	125 days	
9 years	50 days	140 days	
10 years	55 days	155 days	
11 years	CO daye	170 dove	
11 years	60 days	170 days	
12 years	65 days	185 days	
13 years	70 days	190 days	
14 years	75 days	185 days	1
15 years	80 days	180 days	
16 years	85 days	175 days	
17 years	90 days	170 days	
18 years	95 days	165 days	
19 years	100 days	160 days	
20 years	105 days	155 days	
21 years	110 days	150 days	
22 years	115 days	145 days	
23 years	120 days	140 days	
24 years	125 days	135 days	
25 years	130 days	130 days	

- Where a Regular Full-time Employee at time sick leave commences has, through earlier use of sick leave, less than fifteen (15) weeks of sick leave, additional credits will be made available, if required, in order to bring the total period of sick leave to 15 weeks, at not less than sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66 2/3%) pay.
- 24.06 When a Regular Full-time Employee returns to active employment, i.e. the Employee assumes the full responsibilities of their regular position, at their regular hours of work following a period of sick leave and has exhausted all sick leave, credits to a maximum of 15 weeks at sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66 2/3%) will be made available after the following intervals:
 - a) one (1) month after return to active employment in the case of a new disability; and
 - b) three (3) months after return to active employment in the case of a recurrence of the same disability.

24.07 <u>Regular Part Time Employees</u>

- a) Regular Part-time Employees shall accrue sick leave credits on the basis of eleven and one-quarter (11 $\frac{1}{4}$) hours for each one hundred sixty-two and one-half (162 $\frac{1}{2}$) regular hours worked to a maximum accumulation of nine hundred (900) hours.
- b) Following four hundred eighty seven and one-half (487 ½) regular hours worked payment from sick leave banks will be made based on posted scheduled hours of work only for days on which Regular Part-time Employees are required to work but cannot attend due to illness. If the Regular Part-time Employee's illness continues beyond her posted scheduled hours of work (i.e., no further work is scheduled for her in the meantime because of her illness), payment from the sick leave banks will be based on the weekly average number of hours worked by the Regular Part-time Employee in the 2 calendar week period immediately preceding her sick absence.
- c) A Regular Part-time Employee who transfers to a Full-time position (or vice versa) without a break in service shall accrue sick leave benefits as follows:
 - i) Upon transfer to a Full-time position, sick leave entitlements will be based on the Employee's length of service pro-rated to Full-time in accordance with Article 24.04.

- ii) Upon transfer to a Regular Part-time or **Temporary** Part-time position sick leave entitlements accrued under Article 24.04 will be converted in accordance with Article 24.07 and future sick leave entitlements will accrue in accordance with Article 24.07.
- a) It is not be to be construed, however, that the provisions under this policy give any Employee the right to be retained in the service of the Employer or any right or claim for sick benefits after termination of service.
 - b) If an Employee is unable to resume duties at the expiration of an authorized leave of absence, his or her service may be terminated without prejudice to any rights the Employee may have under the terms of the Pension Plan of the Employer.
- 24.09 The Employee must observe all of the following regulations to obtain the benefits available:
 - a) advise the department manager or the immediate supervisor of sickness or accident on the first day and no less than one (1) hour prior to commencement of their scheduled shift except in circumstances beyond the control of the Employee;
 - b) give full and correct information regarding the disability and furnish such medical certificates as may be required by the Employer;
 - c) report to the Employer before making any change in usual place of residence or address during disability.
- 24.10 Except for the health related portion of maternity leave, sick leave with pay will not be granted during any leave of absence, excluding Union leaves, nor for self-inflicted illness or injury.
- Nothing in this plan shall be construed as providing in any instance anything less than the minimum benefit necessary to meet E. I. requirements, nor shall it be construed other than as outlined above as providing benefits in excess of the E. I. basic requirements of a sick leave plan.
- 24.12 Upon termination of employment, all sick leave credits shall be cancelled and no payment shall be due thereof.

ARTICLE 25 - HEALTH BENEFITS

- 25.01 The Employer will make available the following Employee health and Employee benefits plans, to the same extent and subject to the same eligibility requirements and rules and regulations of these plans, and on the same cost-sharing basis, as are presently being enjoyed by them:
 - a) Alberta Health Care Insurance Plan one hundred percent (100%) Employer-paid
 - b) Extended Health Care Benefits one hundred percent (100%) Employer-paid. (including vision care)
 - c) Dental Care Plan sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66 2/3 %) Employer-paid; thirty-three and one-third percent (33 1/3 %) Employee paid. Employees may opt out of the Dental Care Plan only if his/her spouse has equal or better through his/her Employer
 - d) Group Life Insurance and Accidental Death and Dismemberment Insurance present cost-sharing
 - e) Voluntary Dependents' Life Insurance present cost-sharing
 - f) Long Term Disability Plan present cost-sharing

25.02 Health Benefit Plans

Employees on other than Full-time status shall be eligible to participate in the Employee benefit plans as outlined in Article 25.01 subject to the eligibility requirements for membership and the rules and regulations of said plans.

25.03 Employees occupying the Driver Classification

Any physical or medical examination necessary for an operator's license which the Employer requests the Employee to obtain shall be promptly complied with by the Employee. The Employee shall be allowed to obtain such physical or medical examination for this purpose from her own attending physician. The Employer shall pay for all such physical or medical examinations and for any time lost as a result thereof during working hours. The Employee shall give the Employer two (2) weeks' notice prior to such examination.

The Employer shall supply the necessary equipment required in obtaining an operator's license, and the test shall be taken during working hours.

ARTICLE 26 - PENSION PLAN

- Employees in the bargaining unit shall participate in accordance with the eligibility provisions of the CBS Defined Benefit Pension Plan (the Plan). The rate at which the Employee shall contribute to the Plan shall be as established from time to time in accordance with the terms of the Plan. The rate at which the Employer shall contribute to the Plan is limited to the fixed amount established from time to time in accordance with the terms of the Plan. The parties agree that the Plan is a defined benefit pension plan to which section 14(3) of the Pension Benefits Act R.S.O. 1990 c.P.8 and section 6(1) of Regulation 909 under the Pension Benefits Act, supra apply. For purposes of clarity, the contribution rates of both Employees and the Employer are described at Schedule "A" hereto.
- 26.02 The Employer shall notify Employees when they become eligible to join the plan and provide any relevant material outlining the above plan or when there are changes to the plan.

ARTICLE 27 - WORKERS' COMPENSATION

- a) An Employee who is incapacitated and unable to work, as a result of an accident sustained while on duty in the service of the Employer within the meaning of the Workers' Compensation Act, shall continue to receive her net salary from the Employer provided she assigned over to the Employer her compensation payments due from the Workers' Compensation Board from the time lost as a result of the accident. In addition, the Employer agrees to assist Employees in filing claims for any Injuries related to WCB.
 - b) Should the Employee's claim be disallowed by the Workers' Compensation Board, then any monies paid by the Employer shall be either charged against accumulated sick leave, or if the Employee has no sick leave, the amount so paid shall be recovered from the Employee.
 - c) When an Employee is absent on a Workers' Compensation claim, all benefits of this Agreement will continue to accrue for a period of one (1) year subject to d) below.
 - d) An Employee who is absent on a Workers' Compensation claim will not accrue annual vacation and designated Named Holidays during the entire period of absence. However, service credits for the purpose of calculating future vacation entitlement will continue to accrue during such absences.

- e) An Employee shall be deemed terminated at such time that she is declared by a physician to be permanently unfit to perform the essential duties of her position and where alternative measures at accommodation within the Centre are not viable. Notwithstanding, in the case of Regular Full-time and Regular Part-time Employees, such termination will not take effect earlier than one (1) year from the date the leave commenced.
- All accidents must be reported immediately by the Employee in writing to her Supervisor. The Employee will be provided with a copy of the accident report.
- 27.03 Employees are required to provide their immediate Supervisor, as far in advance as possible, with a written notice of readiness to return to work.

ARTICLE 28 - LEAVES OF ABSENCE

- a) Leave of absence without pay may be granted to a Regular Employee who has completed her probationary period, at the discretion of the Employer. All applications for leave of absence, with the exception of compassionate leave, shall be made in writing to the Employer twenty-one (21) calendar days in advance except in extenuating circumstances. Such application shall indicate the date of departure and the date of return. If a leave of absence is refused, reason for such refusal shall be given to the Employee in writing.
 - b) An Employee who has been granted leave of absence of any kind and who overstays her leave without the permission of the Employer shall be considered to have terminated her employment, unless in the opinion of the Employer, such overstay is justifiable.
 - c) In the case of leaves of absence without pay of more than one (1) month in duration, including maternity leave, Employees shall cease to accrue seniority rights, sick leave, annual vacation and service credits. The Employee's increment date shall also be adjusted by the same amount of time as the leave of absence and a new increment date shall prevail thereafter.
 - d) Employees shall not be entitled to Named Holidays with pay which may fall during the period of leave of absence.

28.02 <u>Premium Payments</u>

When an Employee has been granted leave of absence of any type for a period of more than thirty (30) consecutive days, such Employee shall be required to pay both the Employee's and the Employer's share of the premiums for applicable benefits and any other levies normally in force had such leave of absence not been granted. Payment is to be made in advance, and shall be based on the Employee's most current benefit premium payments. Contributions of the Employer and Employees to the CBS Defined Benefit Pension Plan will be in accordance with the terms of the Plan during any period of leave of absence without pay.

Where a leave of absence has been granted of any type for a period of thirty (30) days or less, such Employees shall be required, by payroll deduction, to pay the usual Employee benefit premiums and other levies normally in force had such leave of absence not been granted.

28.03 Education

A Regular Employee may request leave of absence without pay and without loss of seniority to up-grade their work related educational qualifications. Such leave of absence requests shall not be unreasonably denied.

28.04 Union Leave

- a) When a Regular Employee makes an application for leave of absence to perform duties of any office in his Local Union or of the parent Union, such leave shall be granted, subject to operational requirements and will not be unreasonably denied. An Employee shall retain their original seniority rights in the bargaining unit and with no decrease in status. Such leave shall be with pay and without loss of benefits and entitlements for which the Union will reimburse the Employer all costs plus a fifteen percent (15%) administration fee.
- b) Subject to the operational requirements of the Centre, one member of the bargaining unit who is a Regular Employee appointed to a paid position with the Union, for a period of up to one (1) year, may be granted leave of absence without pay in accordance with the provisions of Articles 28.01 and 28.02.
 - i) Employees on such leave shall provide the Employer with at least four (4) weeks' written notice of their return to work.

ii) The Employer will reinstate the Employee in the same position held by her immediately prior to taking leave, and at the same step in the pay rate or provide her with alternate work of a comparable nature at not less than the same pay rate, and all other benefits that accrued to her to the date she commenced the leave.

28.05 <u>Maternity/Parental Leave</u>

- a) A Regular Employee who is pregnant is entitled to up to fifty-two (52) weeks maternity leave. The period of time as requested by the Employee shall cover any period from twelve (12) weeks prior to the expected date of delivery to fifty-two (52) weeks after the actual delivery but in no case shall it exceed a total of fifty-two (52) weeks.
 - Casual and Temporary Employees are entitled to maternity leave in accordance with Employment Standards Code.
- b) Any Employee desiring leave of absence under the maternity clause must request such to management at least four (4) weeks prior to the date the leave of absence is to commence. Such request shall include the expected date of delivery. An Employee who is pregnant shall not be retained on staff following such time as in the opinion of management, in consultation with the Employee's personal physician, her ability to carry out her assignments is limited. Additional leave may be requested for health reasons if supported by a doctor's certificate.
- c) An Employee on maternity leave shall provide the Employer with at least four (4) weeks written notice of readiness to return to work at which time the Employer will reinstate the Regular Employee in the same classification held by her immediately prior to taking maternity leave and at the same basic rate of pay.
- d) Maternity leave shall be without pay. Premiums for staff benefits will continue to be shared during the first four (4) months of the leave. Thereafter, the Employee, if she elects to continue benefits coverage, becomes responsible for the full payment of such premiums.
- e) During a period of valid health related absence from work, supported by a medical certificate from her attending physician, the Employee's salary shall be topped up as per the SUB plan.

f) Upon request, a father shall be given one (1) day's leave of absence with pay for the purpose of attending the delivery of the child and one (1) day's leave of absence with pay for attending the release from hospital of the mother who has given birth. The pay entitlement of Regular Part-time and Temporary Employees shall be limited to their scheduled hours of work.

Maternity / Parental / Adoption Supplemental Employment Benefit (SEB)

Maternity / Parental / Adoption Supplemental Employment Benefit (SEB) shall only apply to Regular Full-time and Regular Part-time Employees.

Eligible Employee shall mean an Employee who has completed at least thirteen (13) weeks of employment prior to commencing her/his maternity and/or parental/adoption leave, and who is in receipt of Employment Insurance maternity or parental benefits.

Maternity Supplemental Employment Benefits

An Employee, who is in receipt of Employment Insurance (EI) maternity benefits pursuant to the Employment Insurance Act, shall be paid a SEB that is equivalent to the difference between the gross weekly EI benefit the Employee is eligible to receive and seventy-five percent (75%) of the Employee's regular weekly rate of pay. This SEB payment shall commence following completion of the two (2) week EI waiting period and upon submitted proof of receipt of EI benefits. The SEB payment shall continue while the Employee is in receipt of EI maternity benefits for a maximum of fifteen (15) weeks, which is inclusive of the Alberta SUB plan (for the health related portion of the maternity leave of absence) in accordance with Article 24.11.

CBS will pay seventy-five percent (75%) of the Employee's regular weekly rate of pay for the two-week waiting period required for maternity benefits under the Employment Insurance Act.

Parental/Adoption Supplemental Employment Benefits

An Employee, who is in receipt of Employment Insurance (EI) parental benefits pursuant to the Employment Insurance Act, shall be paid a SEB that is equivalent to the difference between the gross weekly EI benefit the Employee is eligible to receive and seventy-five percent (75%) of the Employee's regular weekly rate of pay. This SEB payment shall commence following completion of any required two (2) week EI waiting period and upon submitted proof of receipt of EI benefits. The SEB payment shall continue while the Employee is in receipt of EI parental benefits for a maximum of ten (10) weeks.

If a two-week waiting period is required for parental benefits under the Employment Insurance Act, CBS will pay seventy-five percent (75%) of the Employee's regular weekly rate of pay for this waiting period.

In instances where two Employees share the parental/adoption leave and both are in receipt of EI parental benefits, both Employees shall be eligible for the SEB to a maximum of ten (10) weeks each.

SEB Payment Calculation

- 1. SEB payments will be based on the regular weekly rate of pay in the Employee's home position.
- 2. The regular weekly rate of pay shall be determined by multiplying the Employee's regular weekly work hours by the regular hourly rate on the last day worked prior to the commencement of the leave and excludes overtime, premiums and allowances.
- 3. Regular weekly work hours for Regular Part-time Employees shall be determined by calculating the average regular hours paid per week over the twenty (20) weeks preceding the commencement of the leave.

Salary changes with an effective date during the leave will not result in an adjustment to the SEB Plan.

28.06 Adoption Leave

A Regular Employee shall be entitled to adoption leave under the terms and conditions of the maternity leave provision of this Agreement.

Temporary and Casual Employees will be entitled to adoption leave in accordance with Employment Standards Code.

28.07 Bereavement and/or Funeral Leave

- a) Upon the death of a relative, a Regular or Temporary Employee shall be entitled to a leave of absence with pay up to five (5) working days for bereavement. For the purpose of this article, a relative shall be defined as mother, father, brother, sister, wife, husband, common-law spouse and same gender partner, child, foster child, grandchild, guardian, mother-in-law, father-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, and grandparent of the Employee.
- b) Bereavement leave with pay may be extended by up to five (5) working days if travel in excess of 300 km. is necessary.
- c) The Employer shall grant up to one (1) day with pay to attend the funeral of a relative not covered by 28.07 a).
- d) The pay entitlement of Regular Part-time and Temporary Employees shall be limited to their scheduled hours of work.

28.08 <u>Wedding Leave</u>

The Employer shall grant a Regular Employee three (3) consecutive working days off with pay, excluding scheduled days off in accordance with Article 19.02, during the week immediately prior to or following her marriage or thereafter to the extent that any of the aforementioned days are normal working days. The leave may be added to any normal vacation approved to be taken at the time of the wedding.

The pay entitlement of Regular Part-time and Temporary Employees shall be limited to their scheduled hours of work.

28.09 Pressing Necessity and Appointments

- a) A Regular Employee will be granted up to four (4) days leave with pay per calendar year where the Employee is unable to report to work due to unanticipated circumstances of pressing necessity which requires the Employees personal attention. This may include, but not be limited to illness of the Employee's spouse or child. The Employee shall provide proof of illness if required. Such leave will not be unreasonably denied.
- b) Provided medical/dental appointment cannot be scheduled outside working hours, a Regular Employee will be granted (upon two [2] weeks advance written notice whenever possible), up to twenty (20) hours of paid leave per year for the purpose of attending such appointments.

c) The pay entitlement of Regular Part time and Temporary Employees shall be limited to their scheduled hours of work.

28.10 Witness/Jury Duty

The Employer shall grant leave of absence with pay and without loss of seniority or benefits to a Regular Employee who is subpoenaed and appears as a juror or witness. The Employee will turn over any monies received from the Court to the Employer.

The pay entitlement of Regular Part-time and Temporary Employees shall be limited to their scheduled hours of work.

ARTICLE 29 - OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

- a) The Employer and the Union agree that they will co-operate to the fullest extent to maintain standards of safety, occupational health and accident prevention in the workplace.
 - b) A joint Management and Employee Health and Safety Committee shall be established, with representation from each department and at least one (1) of such representatives shall be a member of the bargaining unit, fully approved by the Union. Participation by the bargaining unit representative shall be without loss of regular pay.

The Committee shall identify areas of potential danger, recommend means of improving health and safety programs, obtain information respecting the identification of hazards and standards affecting the industry and make recommendations to the Employer in regards to these matters. Correspondence, information and notices concerning the OHSC and health and safety generally shall be provided to the committee members.

- c) The Committee shall normally meet at least once a month at a mutually acceptable hour and date; however, a special meeting may be requested by any member to deal with any urgent matter. Scheduled time spent in such meetings is to be considered time worked and paid for by the Employer. Minutes shall be kept of all meetings and copies shall be sent to the Employer and the Union.
- d) The Union and the Employer agree to encourage their members and Employees to co-operate fully in the observation and participation of all safety rules and practices.

e) The Employer and Union agree to assist workers suffering from workrelated injuries in accordance with applicable legislation and the application of the Employer's Occupational Health and Safety Policy.

ARTICLE 30 - WAGES

- 30.01 All Employees shall be paid on a bi-weekly basis in accordance with the Salary Schedule attached.
- 30.02 Overpayment of Wages and/or Entitlements

Should the Employer issue an Employee an overpayment of wages and/or entitlements, then the Employer may make the necessary monetary or entitlement adjustments and take such internal administrative action as is necessary to correct such errors. The Employer shall notify the Employee in writing that an overpayment has been made and discuss repayment options. By mutual agreement between the Employer and the Employee, repayment arrangements shall be made. In the event mutual agreement cannot be reached, the Employer shall recover the overpayment over six (6) pay periods.

- 30.03 Changes in the Employee's rate of pay based on years of service with the Employer shall be made on the exact anniversary of the Employee's date of employment unless otherwise stated under pertinent articles.
- 30.04 Anniversary Increments

Regular Part-time, Temporary and Casual Employees shall be entitled to annual increments upon completion of each one thousand seven hundred, forty-seven and one-half (1747 ½) hours worked or twelve (12) months whichever occurs later, up to the maximum increment level granted to Full-time Employees in accordance with the Salary Appendix of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 31 - JOB CLASSIFICATION

31.01 Each Employee shall be given an up to date copy of their job description upon hiring, transfer or promotion.

- In the event the Employer changes or amends the job descriptions for any classifications, then a copy of the new and revised job description will be given to each Employee in that classification with a copy going to the Union. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Union shall have the right at any time to request and receive any job description for any classification within the bargaining unit.
- 31.03 Should the Employer substantially amend, change a job description or introduce a new classification within the bargaining unit, the Employer shall inform the Union of the effective date of implementation of the amended or new classification and shall send to the Union the pay rate. Should the Union disagree with the proposed pay rate, the Union shall enter information negotiations with the Employer on the matter within fourteen (14) days of the Employer's notice to the Union. Failing agreement between the parties, within fourteen (14) days of the date of the Employer's notice the matter shall be referred to Arbitration as provided for in Article 12 within a further period of fourteen (14) days.

ARTICLE 32 - MOBILE CLINIC ALLOWANCES

a) All Employees who are officially required to work on mobile clinics outside the city limits of Calgary over an entitled meal break shall receive a meal allowance as follows:

Breakfast \$9.20 Lunch \$11.60 Dinner \$20.75

- b) During the life of this Agreement, the Employer agrees to adjust the above rates should other represented clinical staff CBS Alberta receive higher rates than those identified above.
- c) When an Employee is required by the Employer to travel for employment purposes related to the national/centre operations of Canadian Blood Services, other than mobile clinics, she shall be reimbursed for meals, per kilometer rate and accommodations as authorized by the Employer, at the prevailing Canadian Blood Services Corporate rates.
- 32.02 Cost of hotel or motel accommodation will be paid for by the Employer.

- 32.03 Allocation for meals will be provided as follows:
 - a) Breakfast the allowance will only be given commencing on the second day of an overnight mobile clinic.
 - b) Lunch the allowance will only be given if the mobile team is scheduled to leave the Centre before noon.
 - c) Supper the allowance will be given when the mobile team returns from an out-of-town clinic to the Centre after 1800 hours subject to Article 32.01.
- a) Where an Employee has returned to the Centre from out-of-town clinic past 10:30 p.m. between the months of April 1st and September 30th, or past 9:30 pm between the months of October 1st and March 31st and said Employee does not have private transportation home, the Employer shall pay the cost of necessary taxi fare to the Employee's home or to Calgary city limits, whichever is lesser. Employees shall provide receipts for such fares to their Supervisor.
 - b) When an Employee is required to work on a shift that ends between 2400 hours and 0700 hours of the next day, or is required to work overtime between 2400 and 0700 hours of the next day, she shall be provided with transportation or reimbursed for the cost of necessary and substantiated taxi expense from the Centre to her place of residence or to Calgary city limits, whichever is less. This article shall not apply if the Employee has her own mode of transportation.
- 32.05 Employees required to work In-City clinics and are scheduled for 2 meal breaks, namely lunch and dinner, shall be paid a \$10.00 allowance for the second meal break.

ARTICLE 33 - DISASTER PLAN EXERCISES

Disaster plan exercises and fire drills shall be considered a responsibility of both the Employer and his Employees as a matter of good citizenship in the public interest. All staff covered by this Agreement shall be expected to volunteer their services.

ARTICLE 34 - UNIFORMS

- 34.01 If the Employer requires the Employee to report to duty in protective wear or uniform, the following terms will apply.
 - a) Clinic Assistants, Phlebotomists, Donor Care Associates and Donor Service Representatives

Where uniforms are required by the Employer, the Employer shall supply such uniforms and/or provide an annual allowance in accordance with its policy regarding this issue.

b) Driver/Shipper/Receiver/Stores Attendant/Distribution Clerk/Assigned Mobile Team (Unload/Load Team)

To ensure occupational health and safety requirements are met, a monthly allowance of twelve dollars (\$12.00) will be provided to defray the cost of a footwear allowance. Employees will be required to report to duty wearing the required footwear.

c) Porter/Shipper/Receiver/Distribution Clerk

To ensure that occupational health and safety requirements are met the Employer will provide necessary protective wear. The Employee will be required to report to duty properly attired to perform his/her duties. Protective wear shall be stored and changed into in the designated area located by the Employer.

d) Assigned Mobile Team (Unload/Load up Team)/Driver/Clinic Assistant

To ensure that occupational health and safety requirements are met, the Employer will provide overalls and gloves at the mobile clinic site. The Employee will be required to report to the position properly attired to perform his/her duties.

34.02 At the discretion of the Employer, Drivers and Porters will be provided with a uniform as identified by the Employer. Such uniform will remain the property of the Employer. Drivers will be required to report to his/her position properly attired to perform his/her duties. Such uniforms are to be worn only for the purposes of conducting the Employer's business activities.

ARTICLE 35 - RETROACTIVITY

35.01 Employees who terminate their employment after the expiration of the agreement must apply in writing to the Human Resources Manager or designate at the time of termination for the retroactivity of their basic wages.

ARTICLE 36 - GENERAL

- 36.01 Plural or feminine terms may apply. Whenever the singular or masculine is used in this Agreement, it shall be considered as if the plural or feminine has been used with the consent of the party or parties hereto so required.
- 36.02 Employees covered by this Agreement recognize the value of in-service training to enhance their capabilities and potential, and agree to undertake such in-service training course(s) as may from time to time be assigned by the Employer, at the Employer's time and expense.
- Performance evaluations shall be for the constructive review of the performance of the Employee. All performance reviews shall be in writing.

ARTICLE 37 – CONTRACTING OUT

Where the Employer finds it becomes necessary to transfer, assign or sub contract out any work or function performed by Regular Employees covered by this agreement, the Employer will endeavour to notify the Union two (2) months in advance of such change, and will meet to discuss reasonable measures to protect the interest of the affected Employees.

ARTICLE 38 – ON CALL DUTY

- The term "on-call duty" shall be deemed to mean any period during which an Employee is not on regular duty, and during which the Employee is on call and must be reasonably available to respond without undue delay to any request to return to duty.
- The Employer agrees to pay for each hour of On-Call Duty to which an Employee is assigned:
 - a) Three dollars and thirty cents (\$3.30) when such on-call duty falls on normal working days.

- b) Four dollars and fifty cents (\$4.50) when such on-call duty falls on scheduled days off or named holidays. A named holiday or scheduled day off shall run from 0001 hours on the named holiday or scheduled day off to 2400 hours of the same day.
- c) Except in cases of emergency, the Employer shall avoid placing an Employee "on-call" on the day immediately preceding her annual vacation period.
- d) The Employer shall make every effort to avoid placing an Employee "on-call" on the evening prior to or during scheduled off-duty days.
- e) Wherever possible, the Employee shall not be assigned to on-call duty more than seven (7) consecutive calendar days.

ARTICLE 39 - PREMIUMS

- 39.01 Employees who are assigned to conduct training as outlined in the ISTP program specifically for the purpose of certification of new hires, retraining or recertification, shall receive a premium of one dollar and twenty-five cents (\$1.25) per hour for each hour or part thereof spent training.
 - a) The above premium shall only apply to Employees who have been ISTP certified and to instruct and authorized to sign off on competencies.
 - b) The above premium shall not apply to Employees whose job duties/classification includes training duties.
- A premium of one dollar and fifty cents (\$1.50) per hour shall be paid to an Employee when assigned by the Manager or designate to Senior Driver duties for all scheduled hours worked on a mobile. Such premium shall not be considered part of the basic rate of pay.
- A premium of one dollar and fifty cents (\$1.50) per hour, for all hours worked on the scheduled shift, shall be paid to Clinical Assistant(s) recruited or scheduled to participate in mobile equipment truck clinic equipment unload and re-load. Such premium shall not be considered part of the basic rate of pay.

39.04 A premium of one dollar and twenty-five cents (\$1.25) per hour, for all hours worked on the scheduled shift, shall be paid to the Shipper/Receiver or Stores/Warehouse Attendant when assigned the duties of both positions due to temporary absences in excess of one day (vacation/short term sick leave) where a replacement is not recruited. Such premium shall not be considered part of the basic rate of pay.

The undersigned hereby certify that the foregoing Collective Agreement sets forth properly the terms and conditions agreed upon in negotiations.

On behalf of the Canadian Union	On behalf of Canadian Blood
of Public Employees Local 1846	Services
Cuthol S	
Atrolo	Ramie & Dayles
S-t2)	Holawsty
	V
11/11/1/www.	and
	• •
	HornoMillar
	Houndhilluder A. Parkman
DATE: 2015-12-29	DATE: 2015 - 10 - 08
	To Del

SALARY APPENDIX

	Effective								
	Date	Start	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Level 6	Level 7
Group 1									
Telerecruiter	Apr 1-14	\$15.14	\$16.16	\$17.17	\$18.18	\$19.19	\$20.20		
	Apr 1-15	\$15.33	\$16.36	\$17.38	\$18.41	\$19.43	\$20.45		
	Apr 1-16	\$15.64	\$16.69	\$17.73	\$18.78	\$19.82	\$20.86		
			a de la constantina della cons		4				
Group 2									
-	Apr 1-14	\$19.28	\$20.03	\$20.83	\$21.54	\$22.29			
	Apr 1-15	\$19.52	\$20.28	\$21.09	\$21.81	\$22.57	1		
	Apr 1-16	\$19.91	\$20.68	\$21.51	\$22.25	\$23.02			
		, ,	,	, ,			•	•	
Group 2A									
Driver	Apr 1-14	\$19.84	\$20.62	\$21.46	\$22.19	\$22.96	\$23.77		
	Apr 1-15	\$20.09	\$20.88	\$21.73	\$22.47	\$23.25	\$24.07		
	Apr 1-16	\$20.49	\$21.30	\$22.16	\$22.92	\$23.72	\$24.55		<u>'</u>
	Дрі 1-10	φ20.13	φ21.50	\$22.10	Ψ22.32	φ23.72	φ <u>ε</u> 1.33	<u> </u>	<u></u>
Group 3			1		I				
Donor Services	+								
Representative	Apr 1-14	\$20.25	\$21.07	\$21.90	\$22.79	\$23.70	\$24.64	\$25.44	
Administrative Assistant/	Дргтт	Ψ20.23	Ψ21.07	Ψ21.50	Ψ22.73	Ψ23.70	φ21.01	Ψ23.11	<u> </u>
Clerk	Apr 1-15	\$20.50	\$21.33	\$22.17	\$23.07	\$24.00	\$24.95	\$25.76	
Program Clerk, General	Apr 1-16	\$20.91	\$21.76	\$22.61	\$23.53	\$24.48	\$25.45	\$26.28	
Program Clerk,	7.10	Ψ20.51	Ψ21.70	Ψ22.01	ψ23.33	Ψ2 11 10	ψ23.13	Ψ20.20	
Specialty Services									
									<u>I</u> .
Group 3A									
Maintenance	Apr 1-14	\$19.47	\$20.09	\$20.76	\$21.42	\$22.13	\$22.82	\$23.51	
Transcriutec	Apr 1-15	\$19.71	\$20.34	\$21.02	\$21.69	\$22.41	\$23.10	\$23.80	
	Apr 1-16	\$20.10	\$20.75	\$21.44	\$22.12	\$22.86	\$23.56	\$24.28	
	Apr 1-10	\$20.10	φ20.73	φ21.11	φ22.12	\$22.00	\$23.30	φ21.20	
Group 4									
Clinical Assistants	Apr 1-14	¢10.72	\$20.45	\$21.20	\$21.97	\$22.85	\$23.66	\$24.43	
Cliffical Assistants	· ·	\$19.72		·			· ·		
	Apr 1-15	\$19.97	\$20.70	\$21.46	\$22.24	\$23.14	\$23.96	\$24.74	
	Apr 1-16	\$20.36	\$21.11	\$21.89	\$22.68	\$23.60	\$24.44	\$25.23	.02000
0			·				<u> </u>		
Group 4A		400.00	400.00	100 50	101.00	105.10	405.00	10001	407.60
Phlebotomist	Apr 1-14	\$22.09	\$22.83	\$23.58	\$24.39	\$25.18	\$25.98	\$26.81	\$27.60
	Apr 1-15	\$22.37	\$23.12	\$23.87	\$24.69	\$25.49	\$26.30	\$27.15	\$27.95
	Apr 1-16	\$22.82	\$23.58	\$24.35	\$25.18	\$26.00	\$26.83	\$27.69	\$28.51
		,		,	1			¥*****	
Group 4B									
Mobile Driver	Apr 1-14	\$20.60	\$21.36	\$22.15	\$22.97	\$23.88	\$24.73	\$25.53	
	Apr 1-15	\$20.86	\$21.63	\$22.43	\$23.26	\$24.18	\$25.04	\$25.85	
	Apr 1-16	\$21.28	\$22.06	\$22.88	\$23.73	\$24.66	\$25.54	\$26.37	
			•						
Group 5								****	
Senior Telerecruiter	Apr 1-14	\$20.25	\$21.07	\$21.90	\$22.79	\$23.70	\$24.64	\$25.44	
Porter/Distribution Attendant	Apr 1-15	\$20.50	\$21.33	\$22.17	\$23.07	\$24.00	\$24.95	\$25.76	
Shipper Receiver	Apr 1-16	\$20.91	\$21.76	\$22.61	\$23.53	\$24.48	\$25.45	\$26.28	
		Ψ20.51	421170	Ψ22.01	<u> </u>	Ψ2 11 10	Ψ23.13		
Shipper/Receiver/Driver									<u> </u>
Stores Warehouse Attendant]

	Effective Date	Start	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Level 6	Level 7
Scheduler Timekeeper									
Building Systems									
Technician									
	1		1		1	ı			I
Group 5B									
Team Lead DSR	Apr 1-14	\$22.13	\$22.98	\$23.92	\$24.89	\$25.86	\$26.92	\$27.78	
Junior Field Support		100.44	40007	10400		106.40	407.06	100 10	
Analyst	Apr 1-15	\$22.41	\$23.27	\$24.22	\$25.20	\$26.18	\$27.26	\$28.13	
	Apr 1-16	\$22.86	\$23.74	\$24.70	\$25.70	\$26.70	\$27.81	\$28.69	
Cwarm 6								Ī	
Group 6	Amr 1 11	424 22	42F 16	¢2F 70	427.2F	#20.22	¢20.40	¢20.42	
Biomedical Technician	Apr 1-14	\$24.23	\$25.16	\$25.79	\$27.25	\$28.32	\$29.49	\$30.43	
Budget and Reporting Assistant	Apr 1-15	\$24.53	\$25.47	\$26.11	\$27.59	\$28.67	\$29.86	\$30.81	
Supply Services Assistant	Apr 1-16	\$25.02	\$25.98	\$26.63	\$27.39	\$20.07	\$30.46	\$30.61	
Juppiy Jei vices Assistant	Apr 1-10	μ23.02	ψ23,30	φ20.03	φ20.17	ψ23,27	μουτο	ا معتنى	<u> </u>
Group 6A									
Donor Care Associate	Apr 1-14	\$24.24	\$24.98	\$25.73	\$26.54	\$27.33	\$28.13	\$28.96	1
Derror Care / Isseedate	Apr 1-15	\$24.54	\$25.29	\$26.05	\$26.87	\$27.67	\$28.48	\$29.32	<u> </u>
	Apr 1-16	\$25.03	\$25.80	\$26.57	\$27.41	\$28.22	\$29.05	\$29.91	
	1 - 1	4	4	7	T	4 = = -	4-2222	7	
Group 6B									
Facilities Coordinator	Apr 1-14	\$26.91	\$27.85	\$28.82	\$29.83	\$30.86	\$31.93	\$33.05	
	Apr 1-15	\$27.24	\$28.19	\$29.18	\$30.20	\$31.24	\$32.33	\$33.46	
	Apr 1-16	\$27.79	\$28.76	\$29.76	\$30.80	\$31.87	\$32.97	\$34.13	
			1				1	1	
Group 7	A 4 4 4	420 F0	A20.46	A21 41	+22.24	*22.20	±24.20	+25.24	
Coordinators	Apr 1-14	\$29.58	\$30.46	\$31.41	\$32.34	\$33.29	\$34.29	\$35.34	
Event Coordinator	Apr 1-15	\$29.95	\$30.84	\$31.80	\$32.74	\$33.71	\$34.72	\$35.78	
Volunteer Coordinator	Apr 1-16	\$30.55	\$31.46	\$32.44	\$33.40	\$34.38	\$35.41	\$36.50	
Junior Financial Analyst									
Field Support Analyst Technical Field Support									
Analyst									
Trainer, Supply Chain									
			1				1	1	
Group 7A									
Territory Manager *	Apr 1-14	\$30.76	\$31.68	\$32.66	\$33.63	\$34.62	\$35.66	\$36.75	
(*up to 15% incentive target)	Apr 1-15	\$31.15	\$32.08	\$33.07	\$34.05	\$35.05	\$36.11	\$37.21	
	Apr 1-16	\$31.77	\$32.72	\$33.73	\$34.73	\$35.75	\$36.83	\$37.95	
Cuarra 0									
Group 8	Apr 1-14	¢ 21 ⊑2	¢32.62	\$33.79	φ3Ε 00	¢36.2E	\$37.52	\$30 OE	¢40 11
	Apr 1-14 Apr 1-15	\$31.53	\$32.63 \$33.04	\$33.79	\$35.00 \$35.44	\$36.25 \$36.70	\$37.52	\$38.85	\$40.11
	Apr 1-15	\$31.92 \$32.56	\$33.70	\$34.21 \$34.89	\$35.44	\$36.70	\$37.99	\$39.34 \$40.13	\$40.61 \$41.42
	Api 1-10	φ υΖ. 50	φυυ./υ	_ בּטּיברלּ	φ30.13	φυ/. 1 3	_	φτυ.13	Δ <u>τ.τ</u> τ
Group 9									
Equipment Specialist	Apr 1-14	\$35.46	\$36.61	\$37.77	\$38.94	\$40.11	\$41.40	\$42.72	\$44.04
Biomedical Equipment		7	722702	τ	750.51	т	7 .27 10	7	7
Technologist I	Apr 1-15	\$35.90	\$37.07	\$38.24	\$39.43	\$40.61	\$41.92	\$43.25	\$44.59
	Apr 1-16	\$36.62	\$37.81	\$39.00	\$40.22	\$41.42	\$42.76	\$44.12	\$45.48
			·			·	·		·

Memorandum of Agreement

Between

Canadian Union of Public Employees Local 1846

And

Canadian Blood Services

This Memorandum of Agreement, including all Articles signed off between the Parties during the course of negotiations, represents the full and final settlement for the terms and conditions of employment covered in the Collective Agreement between the parties for the term of **April 1, 2014 to March 31, 2017**.

All changes to the Collective Agreement as negotiated by the Parties will take effect as of the date of Ratification by both Parties of the Memorandum of Agreement, or as otherwise stated in this Collective Agreement.

Both Parties agree to recommend to their principals ratification of this Memorandum of Agreement.

On behalf of the Canadian Union of Public Employees Local 1846	On behalf of Canadian Blood Services
DATE:	DATE:

APPENDIX "A"

CBS Defined Benefit Pension Plan

Sample Contribution Schedule

Total Annual Cost	Member's Contribution Rate	Employer Contribution Rate
14.00 % 13.00 %	6.00 % 5.50 %	8.00 % 7.50 %
12.00 %	5.00 %	7.00 %
11.75 % 11.50 %	4.88 % 4.75 %	6.88 % 6.75 %
11.25 %	4.75 %	6.50 %
11.00 %	4.75 %	6.25 %
10.75 %	4.75 %	6.00 %
10.50 %	4.75 %	5.75 %
10.25 % 10.00 %	4.75 % 4.75 %	5.50 % 5.25 %
9.75 %	4.75 %	5.00 %
9.50 %	4.75 %	4.75 %
9.00 %	4.50 %	4.50 %
8.00 %	4.00 %	4.00 %
7.00 %	3.50 %	3.50 %

Notes

- 1) Above contribution rates are prior to utilization of any surplus to reduce contributions.
- 2) Should total annual cost be set at a level greater than 14%, member and Employer contribution rates will be such that the Employer contribution rate is 2% greater than the member's contribution rate.
- 3) Should total annual cost be set at a level lower than 7%, member and Employer contribution rates will be such that the Employer contribution rate is equal to the members' contribution rate.
- 4) Members' contribution rate and Employer contribution rate should be interpolated from the above table where the total annual cost falls between amounts shown.

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #1 BETWEEN

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, ALBERTA (The Employer)

and

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, CUPE Local 1846 CALGARY **AND EDMONTON** CENTRES (The Union)

RE: EMPLOYEE TRANSFERS

Where an Employee of another CBS location is employed, or re-employed within ninety (90) calendar days of voluntary termination from another CBS location, the Employee will be entitled to recognition of years of service within CBS for the following provisions of this Collective Agreement: positions on the salary scale (if within the same classification), vacation and sick leave entitlements.

behalf of the Canadian Union Public Employees Local 1846		On behalf of Canadian Blood Services
DATE:	DATE:	

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #2 BETWEEN

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, ALBERTA (The Employer)

and

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, CUPE Local 1846 CALGARY **AND EDMONTON** CENTRES (The Union)

RE: SCOPE OF BARGAINING UNIT

Where job descriptions change, are re-named or are created during the term of the Collective Agreement which are out-of-scope, the Union may request discussions with the Employer through the Labour/Management Committee with a view to reviewing the duties of the position and whether or not they properly fall within the scope of the bargaining unit.

When it is determined by the parties that the position falls within the scope of the bargaining unit any Employee affected by coming into CUPE Local 1846 shall have full seniority, service recognition and will have all rights set out in this Agreement as if there was no break in continuous employment.

Notwithstanding the above, the Employer and the Union agree that the following classifications are not included in the scope of the bargaining unit:

- Administrative Assistant as per criteria of the Labour Relations Code
- Communications Specialist
- Quality Assurance Associate
- Human Resources (various classifications)
- Supervisor

On behalf of the Canadian Union of Public Employees Local 1846	On behalf of Canadian Blood Services
DATE:	DATE:

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #3 BETWEEN

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, ALBERTA (The Employer)

and

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, CUPE Local 1846
CALGARY **AND EDMONTON** CENTRES
(The Union)

RE: CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES UNIVERSAL BENEFITS PLAN

WITHOUT PREJUDICE OR PRECEDENT

Whereas the parties are interested in creating and maintaining a Universal Benefits Plan which would apply to all eligible Employees at Canadian Blood Services, the Parties hereby agree that:

- #1 The Universal Benefits Plan, as described in the attached plan summary, shall replace Article 25 Insured Benefits as contemplated by the Collective Agreement.
- #2 The Universal Benefits Plan, as described in the attached plan summary, shall replace Article 25 Insured Benefits as contemplated by the Collective Agreement.
- #3 Other-than-Full-time Employees' eligibility for participation in the Universal Benefits Plan shall continue as per their current eligibility for participation under the Collective Agreement.
- #4 The levels of coverage of the Universal Benefits Plan shall not be reduced from those levels in effect as of the date of signing of this Memorandum of Understanding.
- #5 The Employer shall make any future enhancements to the Universal Benefits Plan at its sole discretion.
- #6 The contents of the Universal Benefits Plan are not subject to negotiation and shall not be modified in any way for any reason by negotiations of any kind between the parties.
- #7 If the Union no longer wishes to participate in the plan, it may indicate its withdrawal in writing prior to the expiry date of the Collective Agreement, at which time this Memorandum of Understanding shall be null and void.

For the Purposes of this Memorandum of Understanding:

"The Parties" shall mean the Employer and the Union.

"Universal Benefits Plan" shall mean the extended health care, dental, life insurance, accidental death and dismemberment insurance, and business travel accident insurance plans provided to non-Union Employees (and as amended by the attached plan description) as of the date of signing of this Memorandum of Understanding.

An "eligible Employee" shall mean an Employee who is entitled to participate in the Universal Benefits Plan benefits plan, subject to the rules and regulations of the plan.

An "other-than-Full-time Employee" shall mean a Regular Part-time or Part-time Employee.

"Collective Agreement" shall mean the Collective Agreement between Canadian Blood Services and Canadian Union of Public Employees Local 1846.

On behalf of the Canadian Union of Public Employees Local 1846	On behalf of Canadian Blood Services
DATE	DATE
DATE:	DATE:

Canadian Blood Services -Universal Benefits Plan

Retirement Division	 as per the current retirement division
MAJOR MEDICAL (EXTENDED HEALTH CA	RE)
Premium Cost Sharing	 as per the Collective Agreement
Waiting Period	Full-time: 1st of the month following date of hire
	 Part-time: as per the Collective Agreement
Participation Basis	 Employee coverage: compulsory (except for opting out
	provisions as set out in the benefits contract)
	dependent coverage: not compulsory
Required Number of Hours	 as per the Collective Agreement
Deductible	 \$15 single/\$25 family deductible for drug expenses
	nil for all other expenses
Combined Maximum	unlimited
Coinsurance	
Drugs	■ 100%
Hospital	■ 100%
Vision	■ 100%
 Other Eligible Expenses 	 80% professional and paramedical services
	100% for all other expenses
Drug Features	 drugs available only by prescription (plus certain life-sustaining
	drugs that do not legally require a prescription) with a valid
	Drug Identification Number (DIN)
	pay direct drug card
	 includes claims management features such as, dynamic
	maintenance, generic drug substitution, and reasonable and
	customary pharmacy mark-up and dispensing fee maximums
	by province
 Hospital Room 	private or semi-private
Nursing Care	max \$25,000 per person every 3 years
Paramedical	80% paramedical services to applicable maximum
 Psychologist/Social Worker 	max of \$500 per person per year
Chiropractor	max of \$500 per person per year
Osteopath	max of \$500 per person per year*
Naturopath	max of \$500 per person per year*
Podiatrist	max of \$500 per person per year*
 Speech Therapist 	max of \$500 per person per year
 Massage Therapist 	max of \$500 per person per year
 Acupuncture (performed by 	■ n/a
physician)	
 Physiotherapist 	max of \$500 per person per year
Vision Care	 max of \$250 per person in any 24 consecutive months
	(frames, lenses, laser)
	one eye exam every 2 calendar years (reasonable and
	customary costs)
Hearing Aids	 max of \$300 per person in any 5 consecutive calendar years
Other	 nursing home accommodation – max \$20 a day
	 ambulance services to and from the nearest appropriate
	medical care
	 medical supplies and services to specified maximums
	 accidental dental treatment within 6 months of the accident
	 extra care (wigs or hairpieces up to \$500 lifetime per person)
Emergency Out-of-Country	emergency medical services
	referral treatment
Travel Assistance	 max of \$5 million lifetime per person
	included

DENTAL		
Premium Cost Sharing	-	as per the Collective Agreement
Waiting Period	•	same as Major Medical
Participation Basis	•	same as Major Medical
Required Number of Hours	•	same as Major Medical
Dental Fee Guide	•	current in province of residence
Deductibles		·
Single	•	nil
Family	•	nil
Coinsurance		
 Part I Preventive 	•	100%
 Minor Restorative 	•	100%
 Part II Major Restorative 	•	50%
Part III Orthodontic	•	50% (Eligible Dependent Children only)
Orthodontic Dependent Children Age Basis	•	under 19 years old
Benefit Maximum	•	Part I – unlimited
	•	Part II - \$1,500/year
	•	Part III - \$2,500 lifetime
Recall Exam	•	6 months
X-Rays	•	bitewing – once every 6 months
Love Teny Disability	-	full mouth – once every 24 months
LONG TERM DISABILITY		as mandles Callestine Asmassast
Premium Cost Sharing	-	as per the Collective Agreement
Waiting Period	-	same as Major Medical
Participation Basis	•	Employee coverage: compulsory
Deguired Number of House	-	dependent coverage: not applicable same as Major Medical
Required Number of Hours Benefit Formula	•	less than 4 years of service: 66 2/3% of pre-disability
Benefit Formula	•	earnings
		4 years of service or more: 75% of pre-disability
	-	earnings
Maximum Benefit	•	\$15,000 a month without Evidence of Insurability,
Maximum Denem		\$23,000 a month with satisfactory Evidence of
		Insurability as per Manulife
Qualifying Period	•	15 weeks or expiration of sick leave credits whichever
Quality in gir on ou		is greater
All Source Maximum	•	80% of gross pre-disability earnings
Definition of Disability	•	2 years own occupation
Indexation of Benefits	•	no
Pre-existing Condition Clause	•	yes
BASIC LIFE INSURANCE	J	
Premium Cost Sharing	•	as per the Collective Agreement
Waiting Period	•	same as Major Medical
Participation Basis	•	Employee coverage: compulsory
•	•	dependent coverage: not applicable
Required Number of Hours	•	same as Major Medical
Benefit Formula	•	1.5x basic annual salary, rounded to next highest
		\$1,000, if not already a multiple of \$1,000
Reduction Formula	•	Employee at age 65: coverage immediately reduces at
		age 65 & on each anniversary thereafter to the
		following percentage of original amount:
		85% at age 65
		70% at age 66
		55% at age 67
		40% at age 68
Maximum Danafit	_	25% at age 69
Maximum Benefit	•	without evidence: \$600,000
	•	with evidence: \$1,000,000
	•	combined maximums with Optional Life

OPTIONAL LIFE INSURANCE	Л
Premium Cost Sharing	 as per the Collective Agreement
Waiting Period	same as Major Medical
Participation Basis	Employee coverage: not compulsory
-	 dependent coverage: not applicable
Required Number of Hours	same as Major Medical
Benefit Formula	 1x or 2x basic annual salary, rounded to next highest
	\$1,000, if not already a multiple of \$1,000
Maximum Benefit	without evidence: \$600,000
	• with evidence: \$1,000,000
	combined maximums with Basic Life
DEPENDENT LIFE	·
Premium Cost Sharing	 as per the Collective Agreement
Waiting Period	same as Major Medical
Participation Basis	Employee coverage: not applicable
	 dependent coverage: not compulsory
Required Number of Hours	same as Major Medical
Benefit Formula	
Spouse	• \$10,000
Each Eligible Child	• \$5,000
BASIC ACCIDENTAL DEATH & DISMEMBERMENT (AD	\
Premium Cost Sharing	as per the Collective Agreement
Waiting Period	same as Major Medical
Participation Basis	Employee coverage: compulsory
	 dependent coverage: not applicable
Required Number of Hours	same as Major Medical
Benefit Formula	1.5x basic annual salary, rounded to next highest
	\$1,000, if not already a multiple of \$1,000
REDUCTION FORMULA	Employee at age 65: coverage immediately reduces at
	age 65 & on each anniversary thereafter to the
	following percentage of original amount:
	85% at age 65
	70% at age 66
	55% at age 67
	40% at age 68 25% at age 69
VOLUNTARY AD&D	25 % at age 09
Premium Cost Sharing	as per the Collective Agreement
Waiting Period	same as Major Medical
Participation Basis	Employee coverage: not compulsory
ι αι ασιραάστι μαθίθ	dependent coverage: not compulsory
Required Number of Hours	same as Major Medical
Benefit Formula	Samo do Major Modiodi
Personal Coverage	units of \$10,000 to maximum of \$500,000
 Family Coverage 	spouse, no children: 50% of Employee coverage
. a.m. j ootolago	spouse and eligible children: 40% of Employee
	coverage for spouse & 10% for each child
	eligible children only: 15% of Employee coverage for
	each eligible child

This is a summary of your benefits. While every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of this information, complete information of your benefits can be found in the policy contract on the CBS intranet. Should any difference occur between this information and the contract, the contract will prevail.

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #4 BETWEEN

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, ALBERTA (The Employer)

and

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, CUPE Local 1846 CALGARY **AND EDMONTON** CENTRES (The Union)

_		10	П	EV	A			TT.	\sim	N I
ĸ	C :	JU	D	EV	м	LU	А	ıι	U	W

As discussed during the bargaining for the renewal Agreement (April 1, 2011 – March 31, 2014), the parties agreed that in order for a classification to be reviewed, the Union will submit to the Employer, a request indicating which classification is to be reviewed and the rationale behind the request for review. The job will be evaluated using the Employer's job evaluation tool.

The results of any such job review will be shared with the Union and any appropriate changes to the rate of pay for the affected classification will be implemented and effective to the date of the request. Where the results of a job review indicate that a lower wage (classification scale) is warranted, the new classification scale will be implemented, however, current incumbent(s) wage rates will be red circled at their current rate of pay.

On behalf of the Canadian Union of Public Employees Local 1846	On behalf of Canadian Blood Services
DATE:	DATE:

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #5 BETWEEN

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, ALBERTA (The Employer)

and

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, CUPE Local 1846 CALGARY **AND EDMONTON** CENTRES (The Union)

RE: WORKING IN THE HEAT OR COLD

The Employer recognizes that there may be occasions where Employees are required to work in an unusually hot or cold environment. In such circumstances, the Employer shall take appropriate steps to alleviate the effect of heat/cold on Employees.

Such steps may include:

- i) Lowering or increasing the temperature and/or humidity;
- ii) Reducing worker exposure to radiant heat/cold;
- iii) Increasing or decreasing air speed or moving air;
- iv) Controlling physical activity, including providing additional breaks;
- v) Providing fluids, and;
- iv) Educating Employee's and supervisory staff with regards to heat/cold stress prevention.

Where either Party has concerns regarding working in the heat or cold, such concerns may be brought forward to the Joint Health and Safety Committee.

On behalf of the Canadian Union of Public Employees Local 1846	On behalf of Canadian Blood Services	
		_
DATE:	DATE:	

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #6 BETWEEN

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, ALBERTA (The Employer)

and

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, CUPE Local 1846 CALGARY **AND EDMONTON** CENTRES (The Union)

_	_	_			_	<i>'</i>	
v	E:	- 1	-	v	-\	/IE	1 /1/

The parties agree that it is desirable to provide Employees the opportunity to increase their Full Time Equivalent (FTE) within their classification. As such, following ratification of the Collective Agreement, the Employer will review the existing Part-time staff complement for each classification, and will determine if opportunities exist to offer Employees greater FTEs than those currently held. The Employer shall meet with the Union to advise of the opportunities that have been identified.

Where greater FTEs are available, the Employer will implement a 6 month trial period and Employees within the classification will be offered the opportunity to increase their FTE. Where the number of Employees expressing a desire to increase their FTE within a classification exceeds the number of opportunities available, seniority shall be the governing factor, with the most senior Employee receiving the FTE she desires. The Employer shall advise the Union of the applications made, the seniority of applicants, and the results of this process prior to advising the Employees of the outcome. If requested, copies of the applications shall be provided to the Union.

Employees that receive an increased FTE shall have their Letter of Appointment temporarily revised to reflect such increase for the duration of the 6 month trial period.

The Parties shall meet six (6) months following the implementation of the revised FTEs to discuss whether further adjustments to the FTE mix are appropriate. Where adjustments are required to the FTE mix, the process outlined above will be followed to accommodate the adjustments.

Following the implementation of the adjustments, Employees that receive a permanent increase to their FTE shall have their Letter of Appointment revised to reflect such increase.

On behalf of the Canadian Union of Public Employees Local 1846	On behalf of Canadian Blood Services
DATE:	DATE:

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #7 BETWEEN

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, ALBERTA (The Employer)

and

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, CUPE Local 1846 CALGARY **AND EDMONTON** CENTRES (The Union)

RE: SCHEDULING OF HOURS – CLAUSE 19.05

The parties agree that effective the third month after ratification, the Employer will trial the changes implemented in the following schedule **process for the duration of one** (1) year.

Notwithstanding clauses 19.05 a) b) and c), the scheduling of hours for Clinical Assistants, Phlebotomists, Donor Services Representatives, and Donor Care Associates shall occur as per the following:

- i) Scheduling in each Department shall be by classification, status, and seniority. Within each department and classification, full time will first be scheduled in order of seniority, then part-time and then term/casual. It is further understood that staff will be scheduled in accordance with their skill sets.
- ii) The Employer will endeavor to schedule Employees such that there will be an equitable distribution of Center shifts versus in-town mobile shifts and out-of-town mobile shifts except where otherwise limited by each employee's skill set and full time equivalent (FTE).
- iii) Notwithstanding i) and ii) above, the Employer shall first schedule employees to their specified minimum guarantee of hours (FTE).
- iv) The Employer shall have the ability to schedule an Employee who chooses not work hours or shifts in excess of her defined FTE up to zero point one (0.1) in excess of such Employee's defined FTE.
- v) Once the specified minimum guarantee of hours has been met for all employees, any remaining hours or shifts shall be scheduled in order of seniority to part-time employees who have self-identified via the Pro-Forma letter of their intent to work additional hours.

- vi) Should additional hours remain after the Pro-Forma process above, those remaining hours shall be scheduled by the Employer to term/casual employees, and then on the basis of reverse seniority to part-time employees.
- vii) The Employer shall not be compelled to schedule an Employee for overtime if a less senior Employee is available to work at straight time.
- viii) Post a one (1) month schedule four (4) weeks in advance of the schedule month.

Adjustment of pro-forma to 16 weeks in advance of posted schedules

- ix) Shifts which come available after the final schedule is posted will be offered using the "Availability Book/List" in order of seniority.
- **x)** Alterations to the final schedule will not be permitted except:
 - a. Approved shift exchanges in accordance with Article 19.05 c) or
 - b. In the event of extenuating circumstances and/or an emergency, i.e. bereavement leave, sick leave, etc.
- **The one (1)** year trial period of the Letter of Understanding will continue for the term of the Collective Agreement unless either party gives sixty (60) days' notice, in writing, of its intent to renegotiate and/or terminate this Letter of Understanding.

On behalf of the Canadian Union of Public Employees Local 1846	On behalf of Canadian Blood Services
DATE:	DATE:

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #8 BETWEEN

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, ALBERTA (The Employer)

and

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, CUPE Local 1846
CALGARY **AND EDMONTON** CENTRES
(The Union)

RE: SCHEDULED SHIFT GIVE AWAY

Acknowledging the parties' intent for the current practice of employee initiated "scheduled shift give aways" to be discontinued, the parties agree to the following:

Notwithstanding Article 28.01 and at the discretion of the employer, Employees may be granted a Leave of Absence without pay to enable an employee to give up a scheduled shift. An Employee requesting to give up a scheduled shift must make such application to the Employer no later than 48 hours prior to the start of the scheduled shift.

Notwithstanding the above, based on the size of the logistics department, the Union acknowledges that Employees in logistics will continue to have the ability to give away scheduled shifts as per the current practice, without requesting a Leave of Absence from the Employer.

On behalf of the Canadian Union of Public Employees Local 1846	On behalf of Canadian Blood Services
DATE:	DATE:

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #9 BETWEEN

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, ALBERTA (The Employer)

and

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, CUPE Local 1846
CALGARY **AND EDMONTON** CENTRES
(The Union)

RE: CLASSIFICATION TITLE CHANGE

The parties hereby agree that, effective the date of ratification of the Collective Agreement (expiry March 31, 2017), all Phlebotomists hired after May 30th, 2011 shall have their classification changed to Donor Care Associate (DCA).

On behalf of the Canadian Union of Public Employees Local 1846	On behalf of Canadian Blood Services
DATE:	DATE:

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #10 BETWEEN

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, ALBERTA (The Employer)

and

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, CUPE Local 1846
CALGARY **AND EDMONTON** CENTRES
(The Union)

RE: PRE-AUTHORIZED PAYMENT FOR PENSION AND BENEFITS

The Parties agree that notwithstanding the provisions set out in the Collective Agreement, the Employer may institute a system of automatic bank withdrawal for payment of the Employee's share of pension contributions and benefits premiums during an Employee's leave of absence covered by Article 28.02.

Should such a system be implemented, Employees continuing benefits coverage or pension contributions during a leave of absence shall make payment by authorizing the Employer to make the required deductions from the Employee's bank account.

On behalf of the Canadian Union of Public Employees Local 1846	On behalf of Canadian Blood Services
DATE:	DATE:

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #11 BETWEEN

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, ALBERTA (The Employer)

and

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, CUPE Local 1846
CALGARY **AND EDMONTON** CENTRES
(The Union)

RE: COLLECTIVE BARGAINING

The parties recognize that there may be instances where an Employee who has been scheduled greater than 7½ hours in any given work day is required to attend negotiation meetings between the Employer and the Union.

In such situations, the Employer will keep the Employee's pay whole and shall bill the difference between scheduled hours and those in excess of seven and a half $(7\frac{1}{2})$ hours, directly to the Union, in accordance with Article 28.04.

On behalf of the Canadian Union of Public Employees Local 1846	On behalf of Canadian Blood Services
DATE:	DATE:

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #12 BETWEEN

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, ALBERTA (The Employer)

and

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, CUPE Local 1846 CALGARY **AND EDMONTON** CENTRES (The Union)

RE: VOLUNTARY TERMINATION FOR CLINIC ASSISTANTS AND PHLEBOTOMISTS

Whereas Canadian Blood Services has amended the Clinic Assistant and Phlebotomist job descriptions to include Donor Screening duties, and;

Whereas no regular Clinic Assistant or Phlebotomist ("employee") **hired prior to May 30, 2011** shall be subject to an involuntary layoff solely due to her inability to successfully complete Donor Screening training, or her choice not to complete Donor Screening training;

Therefore, the Parties hereby agree to the following:

- #1 The Employer will, at its sole discretion, canvass employees to determine if any of those employees wish to voluntarily terminate employment with the Employer. Employees shall request to voluntarily terminate employment with the Employer by signing an irrevocable letter of intent within fourteen (14) calendar days. The irrevocable letter of intent will be in effect for thirty (30) calendar days from the date of signing of the letter.
- The Employer shall first consider requests from employees who are eligible to retire in accordance with the provisions and requirements of the C.B.S. Pension Plan. Should the Employer grant the request, the employee shall forfeit her right to notice as contemplated by Article 17 of the Collective Agreement, but shall be eligible for a severance package as contemplated by #6 below.
- #3 The Employer shall grant voluntary termination requests made by employees pursuant to #1 above in descending order of seniority, providing that operational requirements are maintained to the satisfaction of the Employer.
- The Employer shall maintain sole discretion in determining the number of employees eligible for voluntary termination and the last day worked for such employees.
- #5 The provisions of this Memorandum of Agreement shall not apply to temporary or casual employees.

- #6 The provisions of the voluntary severance package shall consist of:
 - a) A severance payment of 3 weeks' regular pay per year of service to a maximum of 52 week's regular pay. In the case of part-time employees, a pro-rated severance payment shall be calculated based on the following formula, to a maximum of 52 regular weeks' pay:

regular hours worked x 3 weeks' regular pay 1950 hours

- b) Career transition services to a maximum value of \$1925, to be executed by a service provider of the Employer's sole discretion.
- c) An education allowance not to exceed five percent (5%) of the Employee's regular earnings in the twelve (12) months preceding her voluntary termination for endeavours that the Employer considers to influence an Employee's future employment opportunities. Employees shall apply for such allowance in writing using a form to be provided by the Employer. Acceptance of the above-noted amounts shall be deemed to include and satisfy any statutorily required notice and/or severance entitlements under the Employment Standards Act.
- #7 The provisions of this Memorandum of Agreement shall be in effect until the later of either:
 - a) March 31, 2016 or;
 - b) A date to be determined by the Employer upon three (3) months' notice

On behalf of the Canadian Union of Public Employees Local 1846	On behalf of Canadian Blood Services
DATE:	DATE:

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #13 BETWEEN

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, ALBERTA (The Employer)

and

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, CUPE Local 1846 CALGARY **AND EDMONTON** CENTRES (The Union)

RE: WAGE RATE - DONOR CARE ASSOCIATES

Whereas the Employer has created a job description for the position of Donor Care Associate, and;

Whereas, pursuant to Article 31.03 of the Collective Agreement, the Parties have discussed the wage rate for the position of Donor Care Associate as a consequence of its inclusion in the Union;

Therefore, the Parties hereby agree to the following:

#1 The wage scale for the position of Donor Care Associate shall be:

Tier 1

Effective Date	Start	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Level 6
Apr 1-10	17.78	18.43	19.11	19.82	20.61	21.34	22.03
Apr 1-11							
Apr 1-12							
Apr 1-13							

Tier 2

Effective							
Date	Start	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Level 6
Apr 1-10	19.90	20.56	21.24	21.95	22.74	23.47	24.16
Apr 1-11							
Apr 1-12							
Apr 1-13							

Tier 3

Effective Date	Start	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Level 6
Apr 1-10	22.03	22.69	23.37	24.08	24.87	25.60	26.29
Apr 1-11							
Apr 1-12							
Apr 1-13							

- #2 A Donor Care Associate who has not commenced training for either Donor Screening or Phlebotomy shall be placed on Tier 1 of the wage scale.
- #3 A Donor Care Associate who is on Tier I of the wage scale shall, upon commencement of training for either Donor Screening or Phlebotomy, be placed on Tier 2 of the wage scale.
- #4 A Donor Care Associate who is on Tier 2 of the wage scale shall, upon commencement of training for either Donor Screening or Phlebotomy (whichever she did not first successfully complete), be placed on Tier 3 of the wage scale.
- #5 A Donor Care Associate being placed on a higher Tier of the wage scale shall be placed on that Level of the higher Tier equal to that Level she was previously on for the lower Tier (i.e. a Donor Care Associate on Level 2 of the Tier 2 wage scale shall be placed on Level 2 of the Tier 3 wage scale). A Donor Care Associate's placement on a higher Tier shall not affect her eligibility for anniversary increments.
- #6 The foregoing wage scales shall be subject to any applicable adjustments provided under the Letter of Understanding RE: General wage increases in the current Collective Agreement and subject to the general wage increases in that Collective Agreement thereafter.

On behalf of the Canadian Union of Public Employees Local 1846	On behalf of Canadian Blood Services
DATE:	DATE:

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #14 BETWEEN

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, ALBERTA (The Employer)

and

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, CUPE Local 1846 CALGARY **AND EDMONTON** CENTRES (The Union)

RE: WAGE RATE - CLINIC ASSISTANTS AND PHLEBOTOMISTS

Whereas the Employer has amended the job descriptions for the positions of Clinic Assistant and Phlebotomist to include the performance of Donor Screening duties, and;

Whereas no regular Clinic Assistant or Phlebotomist ("employee") shall be subject to an involuntary layoff solely due to her inability to successfully complete Donor Screening training, or her choice not to complete Donor Screening training, and;

Whereas the Employer and the Union recognize the advancement opportunity and other benefits afforded to employees by virtue of the addition of Donor Screening duties to the Clinic Assistant and Phlebotomist job descriptions, and;

Whereas, pursuant to Article 31.03 of the Collective Agreement, the Parties have discussed the wage rate for the positions of Clinic Assistant and Phlebotomist as a consequence of the amended job descriptions for these positions;

Therefore, the Parties hereby agree to the following:

#1 A Clinic Assistant who does not perform Phlebotomy or Donor Screening duties shall continue to be paid on the existing Clinic Assistant wage scale in the current Collective Agreement.

Effective							
Date	Start	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Level 6
Apr 1-10	17.78	18.43	19.11	19.82	20.61	21.34	22.03
Apr 1-11							
Apr 1-12							
Apr 1-13							

#2 A Phlebotomist who does not perform Donor Screening duties shall continue to be paid on the existing Phlebotomist wage scale in the current Collective Agreement.

Effective							1942
Date	Start	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Level 6
Apr 1-10	19.90	20.56	21.24	21.95	22.74	23.47	24.16
Apr 1-11							
Apr 1-12							
Apr 1-13							

#3 The wage scale for a Clinic Assistant who performs Donor Screening duties but does not perform Phlebotomy shall be:

Effective Date	Start	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Level 6
Apr 1-10	19.90	20.56	21.24	21.95	22.74	23.47	24.16
Apr 1-11							
Apr 1-12							
Apr 1-13							

#4 The wage scale for a Phlebotomist who performs Donor Screening duties shall be:

Effective Date	Start	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Level 6
Apr 1-10	22.03	22.69	23.37	24.08	24.87	25.60	26.29
Apr 1-11							
Apr 1-12							
Apr 1-13							

- #5 A Clinic Assistant or Phlebotomist shall be placed on either the wage scales in #3 or #4 above, respectively, upon commencement of Donor Screening training. Such Clinic Assistant or Phlebotomist shall be placed on the same Level of the new, higher wage scale equal to that Level she was previously on for the existing wage scale (i.e. a Clinic Assistant on Level 2 of the existing wage scale in the current Collective Agreement shall be placed on Level 2 of the new, higher wage scale). A Clinic Assistant's or Phlebotomist's placement on a higher wage scale shall not affect her eligibility for anniversary increments.
- #6 The wage scales in #3 and #4 above shall be added to the current Collective Agreement and shall be subject to the general wage increases in that Collective Agreement thereafter.

On behalf of the Canadian Union of Public Employees Local 1846	On behalf of Canadian Blood Services
DATE:	DATE:

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING # 15 BETWEEN

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, ALBERTA (The Employer)

and

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, CUPE Local 1846 CALGARY **AND EDMONTON** CENTRES (The Union)

RE: ALBERTA LABOUR RELATIONS BOARD CERTIFICATE #154-2014

Effective April 1, 2015 the following shall apply to the Edmonton and Red Deer employees covered by the Alberta Labour Relations Board Certificate #154-2014:

- #1 Seniority will be established in accordance with Article 16 and based on employee's length of continuous service with the Employer from the last date of hire.
- #2 Deduction of Union dues shall be in accordance with Article 6 on a go forward basis effective April 1, 2015.
- #3 Employees will be placed on the applicable wage scale for their classification at the step that represents an increase that is closest to their hourly rate of pay immediately prior to April 1, 2015.
- #4 Employees future anniversary date for the purposes of annual increments shall be April 1, 2015.
- #5 Employees will not be entitled to the General Wage Increase or lump sum payment for 2014.

On behalf of the Canadian Union of Public Employees Local 1846	On behalf of Canadian Blood Services
DATE:	DATE:

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING # 16 BETWEEN

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, ALBERTA (The Employer)

and

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, CUPE Local 1846 CALGARY **AND EDMONTON** CENTRES (The Union)

RF.	LIIM	D SH	M PA	YMFI	NTS

2014-2015 - Lump Sum Payment - \$1000

- a) The \$1000 amount of the lump sum is for Regular and Temporary Full-Time Employees.
- b) For Part-time and Casual Employees, the \$1000 amount is to be prorated based on their hours paid at the basic rate of pay between April 1, 2013 and March 31, 2014.
- c) The Employer shall pay the 2014-2015 lump sum within 90 days from the date of ratification of the collective agreement.

2015-2016 Lump Sum Payment - \$1000

- a) The \$1000 amount of the lump sum is for Regular and Temporary Full-Time Employees.
- b) For Part-time and Casual Employees, the \$1000 amount is to be prorated based on their hours paid at the basic rate of pay between April 1, 2014 and March 31, 2015.
- c) The Employer shall pay the 2015-2016 lump sum semi-annually, with the first half of being paid on the first pay day following the pay period which includes April 1, 2015, and the second half being paid on the first pay day following the pay period which includes October 1, 2015.

Lump Sums are subject to the following:

- Employees who commence employment within one of the defined qualifying periods shall have their entitlement pro-rated.
- b) Employees terminating employment shall be entitled to the lump sum payment prorated for the period up to and including the date of termination.
- c) All amounts are subject to applicable deductions.
- d) Such lump sum payments shall not be pensionable.

On behalf of the Canadian Union of Public Employees Local 1846	On behalf of Canadian Blood Services
DATE:	DATE:

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING # 17 BETWEEN

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, ALBERTA (The Employer)

and

CANADIAN BLOOD SERVICES, CUPE Local 1846
CALGARY **AND EDMONTON** CENTRES
(The Union)

RE: MOBILE DRIVER CLASSIFICATION

As a result of bargaining between the parties, the classification of Mobile Driver was added to the salary appendix as Group 4B and is included in the current Collective Agreement (April 1, 2014 – March 31, 2017).

- 1) The Mobile Driver position(s) will be posted by the Employer in accordance with the Collective Agreement.
- 2) The employee(s) occupying the regular position will only be assigned to work on Mobile clinics.
- 3) Any Driver assigned to work the Mobile Driver position will be paid at the Mobile Driver rate of pay at the same level they currently occupy as a Driver. (eg. Driver paid at level 4 will be paid at Mobile Driver level 4). A Driver assigned to work a Mobile Driver position that has been in the Driver classification at level 5 for greater than a year will be paid at the Mobile Driver level 6 rate.
- 4) The most senior Driver will be entitled to the Senior Driver premium when working the mobile clinics as per the department's assignment.

On behalf of the Canadian Union of Public Employees Local 1846	On behalf of Canadian Blood Services
DATE:	DATE:

INDEX

TITLE	ARTICLE	PAGE
Alberta Labour Relations Board Certificate	LOU #15	75
Annual Vacation With Pay	23	24
Appendix "A"		52
Appointments, Promotions, Transfers And Vacancies	15	13
Bargaining Relationship	9	7
Bulletin Boards	11	7
Canadian Blood Services Universal Benefits Plan	LOU #3	55
Classification Title Change	LOU #9	66
Collective Bargaining	LOU #11	68
Contracting Out	37	45
Correspondence And Communications	8	6
Definitions	7	5
Disaster Plan Exercises	33	43
Discipline, Dismissal And Termination	14	12
Employee Transfers	LOU #1	53
FTE Review	LOU #6	62
General	36	45
Grievance Procedure	12	8
Health Benefits	25	32
Hours Of Work	19	19
Job Classification	31	41
Job Evaluation	LOU #4	60
Layoff And Recall Procedure	17	16
Leaves Of Absence	28	34
Lump Sum Payments	LOU #16	76
Management Rights	5	3
Mobile Clinic Allowances	32	42
Mobile Driver Classification	LOU # 17	77
Named Holidays	22	23
No Discrimination And Harassment	4	2
Occupational Health And Safety	29	40
On Call Duty	38	45
Overtime And Callback	21	21
Pension Plan	26	33
Pre-Authorized Payment For Pension And Benefits	LOU #10	67
Preamble	1	1
Premiums	39	46
Probationary Period	13	11
Retroactivity	35	45
Salary Appendix – CUPE Salary Schedules		49
Scheduled Shift Give Away	LOU #8	65
Scheduling Of Hours – Clause 19.05	LOU #7	63
Scope Of Bargaining Unit	LOU #2	54

TITLE	ARTICLE	PAGE
Seniority	16	16
Shift And Weekend Premium	20	21
Shop Stewards	10	7
Sick Leave	24	28
Technological And Organization Change	18	18
Term Of Agreement	2	1
Uniforms	34	44
Union Membership, Security And Check	6	3
Union Recognition	3	2
Voluntary Termination For Clinic Assistants And Phlebotomists	LOU #12	69
Wage Rate – Clinic Assistants And Phlebotomists	LOU #14	73
Wage Rate – Donor Care Associates	LOU #13	71
Wages	30	41
Workers' Compensation	27	33
Working In The Heat Or Cold	LOU #5	61

(LOU – Letter of Understanding)